

A Service of

ZBW

Leibniz-Informationszentrum Wirtschaft Leibniz Information Centre for Economics

Bindseil, Ulrich

### Working Paper The operational target of monetary policy and the rise and fall of reserve position doctrine

ECB Working Paper, No. 372

**Provided in Cooperation with:** European Central Bank (ECB)

*Suggested Citation:* Bindseil, Ulrich (2004) : The operational target of monetary policy and the rise and fall of reserve position doctrine, ECB Working Paper, No. 372, European Central Bank (ECB), Frankfurt a. M.

This Version is available at: https://hdl.handle.net/10419/152806

#### Standard-Nutzungsbedingungen:

Die Dokumente auf EconStor dürfen zu eigenen wissenschaftlichen Zwecken und zum Privatgebrauch gespeichert und kopiert werden.

Sie dürfen die Dokumente nicht für öffentliche oder kommerzielle Zwecke vervielfältigen, öffentlich ausstellen, öffentlich zugänglich machen, vertreiben oder anderweitig nutzen.

Sofern die Verfasser die Dokumente unter Open-Content-Lizenzen (insbesondere CC-Lizenzen) zur Verfügung gestellt haben sollten, gelten abweichend von diesen Nutzungsbedingungen die in der dort genannten Lizenz gewährten Nutzungsrechte.

#### Terms of use:

Documents in EconStor may be saved and copied for your personal and scholarly purposes.

You are not to copy documents for public or commercial purposes, to exhibit the documents publicly, to make them publicly available on the internet, or to distribute or otherwise use the documents in public.

If the documents have been made available under an Open Content Licence (especially Creative Commons Licences), you may exercise further usage rights as specified in the indicated licence.



## WWW.ECONSTOR.EU



## WORKING PAPER SERIES NO. 372 / JUNE 2004

### BCE ECB EZB EKT EKP

THE OPERATIONAL TARGET OF MONETARY POLICY AND THE RISE AND FALL OF RESERVE POSITION DOCTRINE

by Ulrich Bindseil



### WORKING PAPER SERIES

NO. 372 / JUNE 2004

THE OPERATIONAL TARGET OF MONETARY POLICY AND THE RISE AND FALL OF RESERVE POSITION DOCTRINE'

by Ulrich Bindseil<sup>2</sup>

This paper can be downloaded without charge from http://www.ecb.int or from the Social Science Research Network electronic library at http://ssrn.com/abstract\_id=533132.



ni 2004 an publications will carry a motif taken from the €100 banknote.



I Views expressed are those of the author, and not related to views of the ECB. This paper has been prepared as a contribution to the "operational frameworks" study group within the Operations Analysis Division of DG Operations. I wish to thank Denis Blenck, Benjamin M. Friedman, Charles Goodhart, Marvin Goodfriend, Jens Tapking, Francesco Papadia, Massimo Rostagno, and Hercules Voridis for comments and discussions. Also, an anonymous referee provided very useful comments that allowed improving the paper.

2 European Central Bank, Directorate General Operations, Kaiserstrasse 29, 60311 Frankfurt am Main, Germany; e-mail: ulrich.bindseil@ecb.int.

#### © European Central Bank, 2004

Address Kaiserstrasse 29 60311 Frankfurt am Main, Germany

Postal address Postfach 16 03 19 60066 Frankfurt am Main, Germany

**Telephone** +49 69 1344 0

Internet http://www.ecb.int

Fax +49 69 1344 6000

**Telex** 411 144 ecb d

All rights reserved.

Reproduction for educational and noncommercial purposes is permitted provided that the source is acknowledged.

The views expressed in this paper do not necessarily reflect those of the European Central Bank.

The statement of purpose for the ECB Working Paper Series is available from the ECB website, http://www.ecb.int.

ISSN 1561-0810 (print) ISSN 1725-2806 (online)

### CONTENTS

Abstract				
Non-technical summary				
1.	Introduction	7		
2.	The concept of an operational target of monetary policy	9		
3.	The operational target of monetary policy in the pre-1914 world	13		
4.	Today's model of steering short-term interest rates	15		
5.	The rise of RPD in the US: 1914-1930	19		
6.	RPD according to Keynes	22		
7.	RPD according to monetarism	24		
8.	"Dogs may bark, but the caravan moves on": RPD's failure to conquer the Bank			
	of England	26		
9.	RPD in the Fed's pre-Volckerian practice: 1920-1979	28		
10.	Volckerian RPD (1979-82)	29		
11.	The decline of RPD	31		
	11.1 Why RPD is flawed	31		
	11.2 Steps in RPD's decline	33		
12.	RPD's operational legacy and post-modern			
	academic RPD	35 37		
13. The lessons from the rise and fall of RPD				
References				
European Central Bank working paper series 42				

2

#### Abstract

Before 1914, there was little doubt that central bank policy meant first of all control of short term interest rates. This changed dramatically in the early 1920s with the birth of "reserve position doctrine" (RPD) in the US, according to which a central bank should, via open market operation, steer some reserve concept, which would impact via the money multiplier on monetary aggregates and ultimate goals. While the Fed returned to an unambiguous steering of short term interest rates only in the 1990s, for example the Bank of England never adopted RPD. This paper explains the astonishing rise and fall of RPD. The endurance of RPD is explained by a symbiosis of central bankers who may have partially sympathised with RPD since it masked their responsibility for short term interest rates, and academics who were too eager to simplify away some key features of money markets and central bank operations.

*Keywords*: operational target of monetary policy, monetary policy instruments, monetary policy implementation, instruments' choice problem

JEL-classification: E43, E52, B22

#### Non-technical summary

Today, there is little debate, at least among central bankers, about what a central bank decision on monetary policy means: it means to set the level of short-term market interest rates that the central bank will aim at in its day-to-day operations during the period until the next meeting of the central bank's decision-making body. Also before 1914, there was little doubt that central bank policy meant first of all control of short term interest rates (via the setting of the discount rate). In between, namely between around 1920 and the end of the 1980s, "reserve position doctrine" (RPD) dominated at least in the US, according to which a central bank should, via open market operation, steer some reserve concept, which would impact via the money multiplier on monetary aggregates and ultimate goals. While the Fed returned to an unambiguous steering of short term interest rates only in the 1990s, e.g. the Bank of England never adopted RPD. Still today, monetary economics textbooks contain many references to RPD concepts, as for example substantial space is devoted to the money multiplier or the Poole (1970) model, which pretends that the optimal choice between interest rates and monetary quantities as operational target would be an empirical question.

This paper tries to describe and explain in a comprehensive way the rise, endurance and fall of RPD. Section 2 defines and discusses major issues relating to the concept of the operational target of monetary policy. Section 3 looks at how operational targets of monetary policy were defined before RPD appeared on stage in the 1920s. Section 4 presents briefly the basic model that underlines today's monetary policy implementation of central banks. Sections 5-7 each review one step in the rise of RPD, namely first its "discovery" by the Fed in the early 1920s, second its enthusiastic support by Keynes, and third its further equally enthusiastic support by monetarists. Section 8 investigates why RPD did not conquer the Bank of England. Section 9 and 10 look at RPD practice in the US, whereby section 9 is dedicated to the six decades before 1979, and section 10 to the three more intense years 1979-82, which are argued to be the only ones in which a real attempt to put RPD into practice was made. Section 11 reviews the main steps in the decline of RPD since 1982, while section 12 looks at the legacy of RPD in today's central bank practice and academic work. Finally, section 13 tries to draw lessons.

It appears that with RPD, *academic economists* developed theories detached from reality, without resenting or even admitting this detachment. Economic variables of very different nature were mixed up and precision in the use of the different concepts (e.g. operational versus intermediate targets, short-term vs. long-term interest rates, reserve market quantities vs. monetary aggregates, reserve market shocks vs. shocks in the money demand, etc.) was often too low to allow obtaining applicable results. The dynamics of academic research and the underlying incentive mechanisms seem to have failed to ensure pressure on academics to ensure that models of central bank operations were sufficiently in line with the reality of these operations.

*Central bankers* failed to resist the reality-detached theories of academics, or even promoted them as they got convinced, or as the theories served their aim to mask their responsibility for short term interest rate and thus for economic developments. It is an interesting, but difficult question to disentangle in how far exactly the adoption of RPD as official Fed doctrine on monetary policy implementation was a deliberate way to mask responsibility, and in how far it was just reflecting convictions.

It seems also noteworthy that both academic economists and central bankers showed little interest in studying well-documented historical experience (e.g. Bagehot, 1873, King, 1936, Sayers, 1976). Overall, the 20<sup>th</sup> century thus seemed to have witnessed in the domain of monetary policy implementation a strange symbiosis between academic economists stuck in

reality-detached concepts, and central bankers who were open to such concepts, partially since they allowed to avoid explicit responsibility. Masking responsibility seemed to be of particular interest whenever the central bank's policies were strongly des-inflationary and thus causing recession and unemployment (in the US in 1919-21 and in 1979-82).

Comparing the Fed and the Bank of England at around 1920 helps to understand what the preconditions may be for a doctrine like RPD to be adopted by a central bank. While the Bank of England was fairly independent, and very little transparent and accountable to the public, the Fed was more or less the opposite. This apparently implied the need for the Fed to invent a story of the pre-1920 inflation in which its failure to rise rates would not need to be admitted. While one would probably not want to praise today and wish back the lack of transparency and accountability of the old Bank of England, it seems clear that major weaknesses of the early Fed relative to the Bank of England, that one would still name weaknesses today, were its lack of independence, excess decentralisation, and lack of experience. As one would like central banks to be accountable and transparent, the main conclusion one has to draw, may be, one more time, the need of central bank independence.

#### 1. Introduction

Today, there is little debate, at least among central bankers, about what a central bank decision on monetary policy means: it means to set the level of short term money market interest rate that the central bank aims at in its day-to-day operations during the period until the next meeting of the central bank's decision-making body. While for instance the Fed announces after each FOMC meeting as *operational target of monetary policy* the fed funds target rate, the Bank of England's Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) and the ECB's Governing Council each announce the rate at which they will conduct short term reverse open market operations, which is a commitment to achieve similar short term market rates. Although central banks appear to have followed such an approach in practice most of the time, academic economists, and partially central bank rhetoric, favoured during most of the 20<sup>th</sup> century a rather different approach to defining the operational target of monetary policy. In the words of Goodhart (1989, p. 293):

"The central bank primarily conducts its policy by buying or selling securities... Academic economists generally regard such operations as adjusting the quantitative volume of the banks' reserve base, and hence of the money stock, with rates (prices) in such markets simultaneously determined by the interplay of demand and supply. Central bank practitioners, almost always, view themselves as unable to deny setting the level of interest rates, at which such reserve requirements are met, with the quantity of money then simultaneously determined by the portfolio preferences of private sector banks and non-banks."

Only during one short episode, one central bank, namely the Fed from 1979 to 1982, appeared to have seriously attempted to define in practice its operational target in the form of a reserve quantity. As will be developed in this paper, all reserve quantity oriented techniques – be they purely theoretical or translated into practice, can be classified as variants of an approach that preceded monetarism by several decades and that was coined in 1962 by Meigs in his PhD thesis supervised by Milton Friedman as "Reserve Position Doctrine" (RPD). The opposite view, applied e.g. by today's central banks, will be called here, for the sake of having a complementary expression "Short term interest rate doctrine" (SID).

While for instance Goodhart (1989), (2001), B.M. Friedman (2000) and Woodford (2003) explicitly highlight the surprising contradiction between normal central bank practice and mainstream academic convictions, no attempt has been made so far to compile the entire 20<sup>th</sup> century history of thought on the operational target of monetary policy. This paper will try to fill this gap. Assembling all main episodes in RPD's history will make easier to assess the validity of the arguments brought forward, and to draw lessons from this long-lasting debate. Clarification is not only of historical interest: despite that SID has also gained back academic ground in recent years, RPD actually still haunts through textbooks and academic journals. This paper will argue that the 20<sup>th</sup> century history of thought on the operational target of monetary policy is a rather unique case of persistence of fallacious doctrine in economics. A comprehensive review of this episode, and a critique of the persistence of RPD in textbooks, appears overdue. Reviewing the history of RPD allows better understanding the factors that made such persistence possible, such as maybe to avoid them in the future.

The debate about the operational target of monetary policy, i.e. the dispute whether interest rates or some monetary base or reserves concept should be targeted in day-to-day monetary policy, is somewhat related, but surely not identical to the debate on the validity of monetary aggregates as intermediate targets. While, the two issues were often confounded and indeed many followers of RPD and of monetary targeting claimed that quantitative intermediate and operational targets naturally go together, followers of SID would argue that they are not necessarily against monetary aggregates as intermediate targets.<sup>1</sup> Although it will be at a few occasions unavoidable to also touch upon the debate relating to intermediate targets of monetary policy, this paper tries to always keep the operational perspective, and will highlight the need of a clear separation of the two spheres. This feature, namely not to aim at a general criticism of monetarism, distinguishes the current paper from more general criticism of monetarism, such as Kaldor (1982) or Moore (1988). The papers coming closest to the present one in terms of discussing the debate between RPD and SID are maybe Goodhart (1989), (2001). This paper tries to go beyond those by (i) reconstructing the very origins of SID and RPD and by comparing the diametrically different success of RPD in two key countries, the US and the UK; (ii) fully concentrating on the monetarism in the RPD debate; (iii) elaborating in more detail SID, and presenting the SID model of monetary policy implementation; (iv) drawing general lessons from the close to 80 years of dominance of RPD in academic circles.

That the issue is not only one of interest for the history of economic thought will be shown in particular in section 11. Most modern textbook classics in monetary economics use RPD concepts when discussing the operational target of monetary policy, as if central banks would obviously apply (or have applied) such an approach (e.g. Mankiw, 2002, Walsh, 2003, Mishkin 2004). In particular, the money multiplier remains the common denominator of all these textbooks, which suggests that a monetary base related operational target is assumed. Also, there is an ongoing academic journal literature in the field summarised for instance by Walsh (2003), which takes at least an agnostic position on what the appropriate operational target should be.<sup>2</sup> Finally, one could argue that the 1979-82 episode, which represented the hardest try ever to implement RPD, occurred after the Fed had moved gradually over 10 years towards explicit interest rate targeting, illustrating that as long as RPD is alive in textbook and academic research, its return to affect practice is not excluded.

The paper proceeds as follows. Section 2 defines and discusses major issues relating to the concept of the operational target of monetary policy. Section 3 looks at how operational targets of monetary policy were defined before RPD appeared on stage in the 1920s. Section 4 presents briefly the basic model that underlines today's monetary policy implementation of central banks according to SID. Sections 5-7 each review one step in the rise of RPD, namely first its "discovery" by the Fed in the early 1920s, second its enthusiastic support by Keynes, and third its further equally enthusiastic support by monetarists. Section 8 investigates why RPD did not conquer the Bank of England. Section 9 and 10 look at RPD practice in the US, whereby section 9 is dedicated to the six decades before 1979, and section 10 to the three more intense years 1979-82, which are argued to be the only ones in which a real attempt to put RPD into practice was made. Section 11 reviews the main steps in the decline of RPD since 1982, while section 12 looks at the legacy of RPD in today's central bank practice and academic work. Finally, section 13 tries to draw lessons.

 $<sup>^{2}</sup>$  E.g. Christiano and Eichenbaum (1992) and further work during the 1990s in their tradition. Thornton (2001) provides a critical survey.



<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> As Goodhart (2002) puts it: "The fact that the money supply (and the monetary base) are endogenous variables has, in my view, no necessary bearing on the question of whether monetary aggregates have good indicator properties, and stable relationshipos with current and future movements of incomes... and prices... The argument that inflation is everywhere, and at all times, a monetary phenomenon is entirely unaffected by the issue of whether a central bank fixes the interest rate or the high powered monetary base."

#### 2. The concept of an operational target of monetary policy

RPD states that the operational target of monetary policy should be some quantity relating to reserves of banks with the central bank. To discuss in the rest of the paper the rise and decline of RPD, this section thus shortly defines the concept of an operational target of monetary policy, and reviews the possible specifications of operational targets. The concept of an operational target needs to be distinguished clearly from two other concepts: the one of an *instrument* of monetary policy, and the one of an *intermediate* target. The following definitions of the three terms are proposed here.

The **operational target** of monetary policy is an economic variable, which the central bank wants to control, and indeed can control, to a very large extent on a day-by-day basis through the use of its monetary policy instruments. It is the variable the level of which the monetary policy decision making committee of the central bank actually decides upon in each of its meetings. The operational target thus (i) gives guidance to the implementation officers in the central bank what really to do on a day-by-day basis in the inter-meeting period, and (ii) serves to communicate the stance of monetary policy to the public. Today, there seems to be consensus among central banks that the short-term inter-bank interest rate is the appropriate operational target.

A **monetary policy instrument** is a tool available to the central bank that can be used to reach its operational target. Today, central banks use three such tools, namely standing facilities, open market operations, and reserve requirements. In the past (mainly from the 1930s to the early 1980s), a further category of instruments were the so-called "direct methods" of monetary control, like deposit interest rate ceilings or margin requirements (see for instance Friedman, 1960, for a critique of these instruments).

An **intermediate target** is an economic variable that the central bank can control with a reasonable time lag and with a relative degree of precision, and which is in a relatively stable or at least predictable relationship with the final target of monetary policy, of which the intermediate target is a leading indicator. The typical intermediate target has been a monetary aggregate like M1 or M3, an exchange rate, or some medium or longer-term interest rate. It is assumed that via its operational target, the intermediate target can be controlled or at least influenced in a significant way. The popularity of the intermediate target safe concept has decreased over the last two decades, and most previous intermediate targets are considered today more as indicator variables which convey useful information to the central bank, without that being sufficient to justify a "target" status.

Although these concepts appear reasonably simple and clear, there has been a long tradition on mixing them up through an imprecise use. Poole (1970), by raising the question "*whether to use the interest rate or the money stock as the policy instrument*", had an unfortunate influence in this respect. Poole (1970, p. 198) defines an "instrument" to be a "policy variable which can be controlled without error" and considers three possible approaches to its specification (p. 199):

"First, there are those who argue that monetary policy should set the money stock while letting the interest rate fluctuate as it will. The second major position in the debate is held by those who favor money market conditions as the monetary policy instrument. The more precise proponents of this general position would argue that the authorities should push interest rates up in times of boom and down in times of recession, while the money supply is allowed to fluctuate as it will. The third major position is taken by the fence sitters who argue that the monetary authorities should use both the money stock and the interest rate as instruments... the idea seems to be to maintain some sort of relationship between the two instruments." The merging of the three concepts, clearly distinct in monetary policy practice, makes an application of Poole (1970) in central banking difficult, but invited academics to work on the same imprecise lines over decades<sup>3</sup>. The extensive related literature is reviewed e.g. by Walsh (2003). As will be argued towards the end of the paper, the ongoing academic work in the Poole (1970) tradition appears to be the most lively 21<sup>st</sup> century left over from RPD.

If one uses the term operational target in the precise sense as defined above, one may categorise the approaches taken by central banks towards them along the following dimensions. All are somewhat related to the role of the operational target to communicate the policy stance, either internally within the central bank or externally.

- *Explicit versus implicit operational target*. As already mentioned, the Fed defines its federal funds rate target explicitly, while e.g. the Bank of England and the ECB stick with an implicit target in the sense that it is revealed with a fair degree of precision through the rate at which they operate in the market (being an implicit commitment to achieve similar market rates).<sup>4</sup> The Bank of Japan is presently defining an explicit and quantified (see below) quantitative target, namely the amount of total reserves of banks with the Bank of Japan (see e.g. the press release of 19 March 2001 announcing the policy). The Bank of Japan's target implies huge *excess* reserves, and zero short term market interest rates. I would thus interpret this quantitative operational target as a second order target, ranking below the zero percent interest rate target.<sup>5</sup> As the case of the ECB and the Bank of England suggests, explicitness does not seem to be a necessary condition for an effective communication of the monetary policy stance to the public.
- Quantified versus non-quantified operational target. A quantified operational target is a target for which the central bank provides, at least internally, an exact figure after each meeting of its decision making body. Quantification is a necessary, but not sufficient condition for explicitness. The Fed's quantitative operational targets were normally not explicit in the sense that they were not even quantified. For instance the Bank of England's implicit short term interest rate target communicated via the fixed rate of tender operation is a quantified target, since the level of the tender rate is precisely applied during the inter-MPC meeting period. Today's fed funds target rate is both explicit and quantified. In contrast, quantitative reserve targets were rarely quantified by the FOMC in its decisions, with the exception maybe of the 1979-82 period (see the FOMC policy records in the Annual Reports of the Board of Governors). Such a non-quantification of a quantitative operational target may be considered odd, and leaves uncertain the exact meaning and content of such operational target. In fact, one could argue that such use of the operational target concept does not really fulfil the definition one would like to give to such a concept today, namely to indicate the monetary policy stance for the inter-committee meeting period, both for the implementation officers in the central bank and to the public. Noting this, Friedman (e.g. 1982) was constantly arguing that the Fed should quantify and make explicit its supposed quantitative operational targets.
- *Public immediate release, or not.* Today, most central banks publish immediately after the meeting of their monetary policy committee the quantification of the level of the operational target variable. However, this was not always done: for instance the Fed before 1994, and from 1974-79 did not immediately announce its target specification, and thus the markets tried to extract it from the (variable rate tender) operations of the Fed New York.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> See also Woodford's (2003, 111 and 298) critique of the Poole model.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> At least, the difference between the average (say over a month) overnight rate and the rate at which these central banks operate is always far below the smallest usual change of target rates, which has been 25 basis points in recent years. The exact wording used by the ECB in this respect can be found in ECB (2004, 71).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> There is an extensive literature on the quantitative approach adopted by the Bank of Japan from 2001 onwards, and on what else it could or should have tried. See for instance Svensson 2003.

- A unique versus a variety of operational targets. Today, e.g. the Fed has specified one unique operational target, the federal funds rate. The Fed thus seems to consider the fed funds rate as a *sufficient* measure for its monetary policy stance. The opposite approach is described e.g. by Anderson (1969, p. 69), according to whom there were in the 1960s eight measures of money market conditions considered by the Fed, namely "the Treasury bill rate, free reserve of all member banks, the basic reserve deficiency at eight New York money market banks, the basic reserve deficiency at 38 money market banks outside New York, member banks' borrowing from the Federal Reserve, United States government security dealer borrowings, the Federal funds rate, and the Federal Reserve discount rate." As mentioned, one could argue that the Bank of Japan today has two operational targets which have however a clearly defined hierarchical relationship: short term interest rates should be zero, and within that setting, the operational target is defined in terms of an (excess) reserves target.
- Choosing between (*i*) a short-term interest rate, (*ii*) a quantitative, reserve related concept, or (*iii*) a foreign exchange rate. The latter is done by central banks, which peg their own currency strictly to a foreign one. In the present paper, the focus will be on large monetary areas for which this approach is not an alternative. The paper thus focuses on the choice between (i) and (ii). The former solution was systematically adopted by central banks before 1914, and is standard again today. The latter was applied at least to some extent in the US, and deemed to be appropriate in academic circles during the age of RPD, i.e. in the period between around 1920 and around 1990.

With regard to interest rate targets, an important aspect is the *maturity* of the target rate. Today, the maturity of the targeted market interest rate seems to be most often the overnight rate, although it is probably not the overnight rate which is really most relevant in influencing decisions of key economic agents (consumers, investors, etc.). According to Borio (1997, p. 296), there were in his sample of 14 central banks of industrialised countries 11 with overnight interest rate target, one with a 30 days interest rate target, and 2 with 30-90 days interest rate targets. In the meantime, the three dissenting ones (Belgium, Netherlands, UK) all have also embraced the overnight maturity. The striking advantage of focussing on the overnight maturity is that fully anticipated changes of the operational target in its case do not lead to anomalies in the yield curve, but such anomalies arise whenever (i) the target is defined in terms of longer maturities, (ii) changes of the target are anticipated, and (iii) the target is indeed strictly implemented. Consider for example what needs to happen with the overnight rate around day T if on day T, a 90 days interest rate target changes in an anticipated way from 4% to 5% (see Bindseil, 2004, chapter 3). The fact that in the past, central banks had a 30 or 90 days target interest rate, probably meant that they did not implement changes in a strict way from one day to the next, or that they tried to avoid that changes were well anticipated. Both features would today be deemed to be sub-optimal, as they conflict with the aims of simplicity and transparency.

By controlling the overnight rate to a fair degree, and by making changes to the overnight rate target predictable within a well-known macroeconomic strategy of the central bank, medium and longer term rates, i.e. those judged to be most relevant for monetary policy transmission, will react in a predictable way to changes in short term rates. It has sometimes been argued that this implies that short run volatility of the overnight rate is not a problem per se, as it will not necessarily influence medium and longer-term rates. This is true, and indeed some central banks (e.g. the Bank of England) have operated with a significant degree of white noise in the overnight rate, without this causing problems in monetary policy transmission. Also the ECB has accepted some degree of volatility in overnight rates, although it could have reduced it through more frequent open market operations. Still, one could argue that, everything else unchanged, white noise in any price does not add value, but creates (maybe very small)

incentives for market players to invest into activities that exploit the variability of prices, which is, from a social point of view, a waste of resources. In any case, this is less of a monetary policy, than a market efficiency issue. Only if volatility of overnight rates is very different from white noise, in the sense that shocks to overnight are rather persistent, it becomes a nuisance for monetary policy as it will be transmitted to medium and longer term rates (see e.g Ayuso et al., 1997). This is certainly the case if the central bank aims at controlling strictly some quantity.

RPD generally denied that the central bank bears responsibility for short term rates, and in its different variants suggested instead the following operational targets (the list tries to order the different quantitative concepts from broad to narrow, which is however not obvious in all cases):

- The monetary base, which is the sum of reserves of banks with the central bank and currency. This tended to be the preferred concept of monetarists, which did not want to go to the details of day-to-day monetary policy implementation and the implied need to split up further the monetary base into sub-elements.
- Reserves of banks. As mentioned, this operational target is currently applied by the Bank of Japan and was also occasionally advocated by academics.
- The total volume of open market operations (Friedman, 1982).
- Non-borrowed reserves, i.e. reserves minus borrowed reserves, applied by the Fed from 1979 to 1982.
- Excess reserves, i.e. reserves in excess of required reserves (for critical reviews see e.g. Dow, 2001, or Bindseil et al. 2004).
- Free reserves, i.e. excess reserves minus the reserves the banks have borrowed at a borrowing facility (in the US case: at the discount window); This concept was applied, at least in theory, by the Fed during the period 1954 to 1970 (see e.g. Meigs, 1962).
- Borrowed reserves, applied by the Fed from 1982 to 1990.

The different quantitative operational targets will be detailed in sections 9 and 10. The following table summarises the possible categorisation of different historical and present specifications of operational targets.

	Explicit (X) or not	Quantified (X) or not	Immediately published (X) or not	Unique (X) or not	Short term interest rate (SID) vs. Reserve concept (RPD)
US, 1994-2004	X	X	X	X	SID
US, 1990-1993	X	X		X	SID
US, 1983-1990					RPD/SID
US, 1979-82					RPD/SID
US, 1974-1979	X	X		X	SID
US, 1920-1974					RPD/SID
Bank of Japan, 2001- 2004	X	X	X	two with hierarchy	SID/RPD
Bank of England since 19 <sup>th</sup> century		X	X	X	SID
European Central Bank, 1999-2004		X	X	X	SID

*Table 1: Examples of operational target specifications* 

#### 3. The operational target of monetary policy in the pre-1914 world

First, pre-1914 theoretical work on the subject is reviewed, and then the operations of the Bank of England are briefly discussed as an example of pre-1914 practice. Already Thornton (1802, p. 254), who is today praised as the most advanced monetary policy theorist preceding the 20<sup>th</sup> century (e.g. Meltzer, 2003)<sup>6</sup>, views central bank policy as "Bank rate" (discount facility rate) policy, and analyses how Bank rate policy should be conducted. The idea further elaborated by Wicksell that Bank rate needs to follow the real rate of capital in order to allow controlling the expansion of money and hence inflation was probably first spelled out by him (emphasis added):

"In order to ascertain how far the desire of obtaining loans at the bank (the Bank of England) may be expected at any time to be carried, we must inquire into the subject of the quantum of profit likely to be derived from borrowing there under the existing circumstances... We may, therefore, consider this question as turning principally on a comparison of the rate of interest taken at the bank with the current rate of mercantile profit.

The bank is prohibited, by the state of (usury) law, from demanding, even in time of war, an interest of more than five per cent, which is the same rate at which it discounts in a period of profound peace. It might, undoubtedly, at all seasons, sufficiently <u>limit its paper by means of the price at which it lends</u>, if the legislature did not interpose an obstacle to the constant adoption of this principle of restriction."

The idea that the central bank should "limit its paper by means of the price at which it lends" seems to anticipate precisely monetary control techniques applied for instance from 1974-79 in the US. A key point of Thornton is that Bank rate is *always* an adequate and sufficient tool of central bank policy to prevent over-issuance of money and hence inflation (except if the central bank is not permitted to use this tool). Thornton's concept of a "rate of mercantile profit" indeed looks much like the better known concept of the "natural rate" of interest described in 1898 by Wicksell (1936, p. 102) as follows:

"There is a certain rate of interest on loans which is neutral in respect to commodity prices, and tends neither to raise nor to lower them. This is necessarily the same as the rate of interest which would be determined by supply and demand if no use were made of money and all lending were effected in the form of real capital goods. It comes to much the same thing to describe it as the current value of the natural rate of interest on capital."

That under stable prices, the rate of interest on money has to correspond to the real rate of interest, which can be thought to be independent of the "monetary sphere" of the economy, is indeed implied by simple arbitrage logic (e.g. Bindseil, 2004, chapter 1). If a central bank would manage, so the 19<sup>th</sup> century authors (at least Thornton and Wicksell as examples), to always keep the money rate at the level of the real rate (which admittedly is moving), then price stability can be ensured. While this view was clearly dominant in the second half of the 19<sup>th</sup> century (see King, 1936), it was admittedly less during the first half (see e.g. Wood, 1939). Today, neo-Wicksellians as e.g. Woodford (2003) again incorporate the Thornton-Wicksell insight as key building block in their macroeconomic models. Although the natural rate of interest is in a sense a macro-economic concept, accepting its relevance and the implied key role of interest rates in the transmission mechanism, implies that the central bank's operational target should normally be the (short term) interest rate.

 $<sup>^{6}</sup>$  He had the advantage, from today's perspective, to have written during a period of a paper standard in the UK (1797-1821).

Many other 19<sup>th</sup> century findings on central banking are associated with Bagehot (1873). One crucial point highlighted by Bagehot (1873, p. 58), which is of particular relevance in the context of this paper, is the *inherent instability of the money market when left alone by the central bank*. It results from the combination of the volatility of the (price inelastic) supply of central bank reserves with the extremely low short-term interest rate elasticity of the demand for reserves in the money market. It is a sufficient argument for choosing rates, and not quantities, as operational targets. According to Bagehot (emphasis added):

"But though the value of money is not settled in an exceptional way, there is nevertheless a peculiarity about it, as there is about many articles. It is a commodity subject to <u>great</u> <u>fluctuations of value and those fluctuations are easily produced by a slight excess or a</u> <u>slight deficiency of quantity</u>. Up to a certain point money is a necessity. If a merchant has acceptances to meet tomorrow, money he must and will find today at some price or other. And it is this urgent need of the whole body of merchants which runs up the value of money so wildly and to such a height in a great panic. On the other hand, money easily becomes a 'drug', as the phrase is, and there is soon too much of it."

Today, exactly like in Bagehot's time, the money market (or market for reserves) is constantly hit by short-term transitory demand and supply shocks. Typical day-to-day supply shocks are the changes in the so-called autonomous liquidity factors, such as the Banknotes in circulation, the deposits of the Treasury with the central bank, or the float created by the payment system (see e.g. Meulendyke, 1998). Demand for reserves in an efficient money market is only very limitedly price-elastic, and the demand for working balances also varies strongly from one day to the next depending e.g. on the day's payment system activity, payment uncertainties, etc. What is important to note is that all of these short term demand and supply shocks in the market for reserves have nothing or very little to do with macroeconomic developments, and it is thus wrong to view the "rates versus quantity", decision on the operational target like Poole (1970), as one depending on macroeconomic relationships, such as the interest rate elasticity of money demand, or the relative importance of real and monetary shocks in the macro-economy. Bagehot's insight into the inherent instability of the money market implies that any serious setting of a quantitative operational target means extreme noise in short term interest rate. Since this noise is unlikely to be white, it also means noise in medium and longer-term rates - i.e. noise in all rates that are crucial for economic decisions. Such interest rate noise is unlikely to be compatible with a sensible control of prices and stable economic conditions in general.

Turning now to practice of the Bank of England, a first key question was whether the Bank was able to control short-term market interest rates. King (1936) reports various debates in the London financial market on that question. Often, the Bank of England tended to deny such responsibility, like the Fed did over decades in the 20<sup>th</sup> century, while the market tended to take the opposite view. Denying full responsibility for the short-term interest rates has mainly two key implications for central banks: first, it allows central banks to deny responsibility for all effects of the level of short interest rate developments, like direct financial implications on groups of economic agents ("borrowers" and "lenders") and the economic imbalances that may be created from an inadequate level of interest rates. Secondly, it will lead the central bank to focus to a higher degree on quantities, since the central bank needs to admit to be in control of something. Control of quantities through other means than the price was typically done in 19<sup>th</sup> century central banking by loosening or tightening eligibility criteria for bills accepted for discounting. Also other means, like restrictions of the counterparts admitted to discount, or moral suasion were used at some time (again, reported in detail in King, 1936). Once more, the Fed would come back to such techniques in the 20<sup>th</sup> century.

The technique used by the Bank of England in the last decades before WWI to set Bank rate and to steer short-term market rates at a level somewhat *below* Bank rate is described in detail in King (1936) and Sayers (1976)<sup>7</sup>. In fact the Bank of England aimed at achieving only a limited recourse to its discount facility, this being ensured through what would be called later open market operations. In fact, the Bank of England maintained normally a spread between the Bank rate and market rates of around 1% (see the tables in King, 1936, pp. 300, 312) – similar to what the Fed has adopted in 2003 after the reform of its discount window, and what many other central banks had adopted in the course of the second half of the 20<sup>th</sup> century. Other central banks, as e.g. the Reichsbank, instead accepted a permanent large recourse to their discount window and thus that market rates and the discount rate were in principle equal (see e.g. Reichsbank, 1910). In any case, before 1914, all central banks quoted at almost any time at least one official discount rate at which they were prepared to discount eligible paper (see e.g. Bloomfield, 1959).

One may conclude that in 1914, there was no doubt, neither on the theoretical side, nor on the side of central bank practice, that central bank policy was interest rate policy, mainly in the form of setting the rate of the discount facility.<sup>8</sup>

#### 4. Today's model of steering short-term interest rates

To further clarify the nature of day-to-day monetary policy implementation, and to show how monetary policy instruments impact on reserve quantities and short term interest rate, this section presents a brief model which may be called SID model. Three early more or less explicit references to it need to be acknowledged: Bagehot (1873) was, as described in the previous section, the first to highlight the inherent instability of the money market, which makes it crucial that the central bank offers standing facilities as a liquidity device (and/or conducts frequent open market operations). The Radcliffe (1959) report was the first to spell out a stochastic concept of the central bank's control of short term interest rates, including the role of standing facilities (see below). Finally, Poole (1968), building up on the work of Orr and Mellon (1961), was the first to provide a corresponding model. It is an interesting irony that Poole (1968) proposed a model which central bank monetary policy implementation experts would probably unanimously praise as fundamental, while Poole (1970), having been more influential amongst academics (e.g. Walsh, 2003, and even Woodford, 2003, do not even quote Poole, 1968) can be considered as having contributed to prolong over decades the confusion with regard to the appropriate choice of the operational target of monetary policy.<sup>9</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> See also Fetter (1965).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> It is sometimes argued that operating procedures under the gold standard anyway cannot be compared with operating procedures in the paper standard, as in the gold standard, central banks would primarily have gold convertibility in mind. However, as central banks in the gold standard normally did not operate closely to the constraint of convertibility, and since macroeconomic dynamics, triggered by inappropriate interest rate policy, could indeed lead to convertibility problems, monetary policy implementation in practice had most of the time macroeconomic dynamics in mind, and could thus follow most of the time the same logic as it does today (see also Goodfriend, 1988).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Although both papers seem to treat the same topic, the academic literature, starting with Poole himself, has treated them as having little to do with each other. Indeed, academic literature refers either to one or the other (actually much more often to Poole, 1970), and no paper, to my knowledge, ever tried to establish the link between the two. Still today, Poole (1968) is not a standard reference. The influence on actual central banking of the two papers may have been proportional to their influence on academic work: As Bagehot (1873) and Radcliffe (1959) suggest, (at least UK) central banking in practice had been based on the Poole (1968) model for a long time. Furthermore, there is no specific evidence that Poole (1968), with its focus on interest rates, had much of an influence in the return of central banks to explicit interest rate control during the 1990s. Poole (1970), in contrast, may well have contributed to make the 1979-82 episode happen, as probably many academics interacting with the Fed and academically inspired central bankers had this model in mind at that time.

Assume the following notation for our simple version of the model:

- *M* Outstanding volume of open market operations, netted as a central bank balance sheet *asset*
- A Autonomous liquidity factors, netted as a central bank balance sheet *liability* (in fact all central bank balance sheet items other than M, B, D, R)
- *B,D* Recourse to borrowing and deposit facility, respectively.
- *R* Reserve holdings of banks with the central bank
- *RR* Required reserves
- $\overline{X}$  For any central bank balance sheet quantity X, the average over a reserve maintenance period with T days.
- $i_t$  Overnight interbank interest rate on day t of the reserve maintenance period, with t = 1...T
- $i_B$  Rate of the borrowing facility (e.g. discount facility) at the end of the reserve maintenance period.
- $i_D$  Rate of the deposit facility at the end of the reserve maintenance period  $(i_D < i_B)$ . Absence of a deposit facility is equivalent to a deposit facility rate of zero,  $i_D = 0$ .

The central bank's balance sheet identity ("Assets = Liabilities") can be expressed in terms of the above-defined balance sheet items as M + B = A + D + R. Assume for a moment that there is *no uncertainty* regarding autonomous factors or regarding the liquidity supply through open market operations in the remainder of the reserve maintenance period, and thus that no news would emerge in its course on any of the factors relevant for the overnight interest rate. Assume also, for the sake of simplicity, that interbank markets are perfect. Then, the central bank balance sheet identity over the reserve maintenance period, together with the assumption that there is no demand for working balances ( $\overline{R} = \overline{RR}$ ), implies that  $\overline{B} - \overline{D} = \overline{RR} - \overline{M} + \overline{A}$ , with either  $\overline{B} > 0$ ,  $\overline{D} = 0$ , or  $\overline{D} > 0$ ,  $\overline{B} = 0$ , i.e. there will normally be an aggregate recourse to either one or the other of the two standing facility. A deterministic aggregate recourse to one standing facility at the end of the reserve maintenance period however implies that the competitive price in the market should correspond to the respective standing facility rate, since this rate represents the marginal value of reserves at the end of the maintenance period. The property that market rates will correspond in the entire reserve maintenance period to one or the other standing facility rate may then be expressed as follows:

$$\begin{split} M > A + RR &\Rightarrow (B = 0; \ D = M - A - RR; \ i_1 = i_2 = \dots i_T = i_D) \\ \overline{M} < \overline{A} + \overline{RR} \Rightarrow (\overline{B} = \overline{A} + \overline{RR} - \overline{M}; \ \overline{D} = 0; \ i_1 = i_2 = \dots i_T = i_B) \end{split}$$
(1)

The result that overnight interest rates are constant within the reserve maintenance period, which implies the so-called martingale property<sup>10</sup>, also follows from the fact that holding reserves on any day of the maintenance period contributes equally to fulfil reserve requirements. Therefore, in the hypothetical case of anticipated differences between overnight rates within the reserve maintenance period, an arbitrage opportunity would arise, which is not compatible with a competitive equilibrium in the money market.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> A time series x follows a martingale if and only if  $E(x_{t+1} | I_t) = x_t$ . See e.g. Hamilton (1996).

Now, one may consider the more interesting and relevant case in which the liquidity supply and the rates of the standing facilities are subject to *uncertainty*. It was the Radcliffe report (1959, p. 121), which, around ten years before Poole (1968), was the first to explicitly mention a lucid *probabilistic* concept of the reserve balance as determining the short term level of interest rates:

"The level of rates of interest in the money market therefore depends on the current level of the rate being charged by the Bank for loans from the Discount Office, and on the market's expectations as to the trend of the [discount] rate and as to the extent to which they are likely to be obliged to borrow from the Bank at this rate."

It is assumed that the money market participants have a homogenous information set  $I_t$  at the time of each market session t = 1...T. The basic relationship between quantities and prices (overnight rates) under the assumptions made above (especially the one of perfect inter-bank markets and averaging) is then described by the following equation, in which  $f_{(\overline{M}-\overline{A}-\overline{RR}|It)}$  is the probability density function the money market participants assign during the trading session t to the random variable  $\overline{M} - \overline{A} - \overline{RR}$ :

$$\forall t = 1...T : i_t = E[i_B \mid I_t] P(\overline{M} - \overline{A} - \overline{RR} < 0 \mid I_t) + E[i_D \mid I_t] P(\overline{M} - \overline{A} - \overline{RR} > 0 \mid I_t)$$

$$= E[i_B \mid I_t] \int_{-\infty}^{0} f_{(\overline{M} - \overline{A} - \overline{RR}\mid I_t)}(x) dx + E[i_D \mid I_t] \left( 1 - \int_{-\infty}^{0} f_{(\overline{M} - \overline{A} - \overline{RR}\mid I_t)}(x) dx \right)$$

$$(2)$$

In words: the overnight rate on any day will correspond to the weighted expected rate of the two standing facilities, the weights being the respective probabilities that the market will be "short" or "long" of reserves at the end of the maintenance period before having recourse to standing facilities. This expression may be considered as *the fundamental equation* of monetary policy implementation. It should be noted that also in the case of uncertainty, the banks' possibility to average reserve fulfilment implies the *martingale property* of the overnight interest rate, i.e. that the overnight rate on any day corresponds to the expected overnight rates on the following days of the same reserve maintenance period. However, in the case of uncertainty, news will constantly emerge in the course of the maintenance period with regard to the factors determining the overnight rate, and thus the overnight rate will normally *not* be constant from an ex post perspective. It should also be highlighted that the martingale property holds only under the assumptions of the frictionless model outlined above.

The SID model as presented above is of course a simplification of reality – in practice, interbank markets are not perfect, and thus also individual liquidity shocks and changes in the demand for working balances play an important role in day-to-day monetary policy implementation. Also in practice, some deviations from the martingale property are common (see e.g. Hamilton, 1996). For instance Woodford (2001), (2003) proposes a variant of the model which focuses also on individual shocks, but assumes the absence of reserve requirements and averaging. Gaspar et al (2004) develop a model which combines the two features.

In a SID model containing market frictions, it is also possible to represent all concepts of RPD like free reserves, borrowed reserves, non-borrowed reserves, etc. For a given set of parameter values of the model, it is thus normally possible to translate an interest rate target into e.g. a borrowed reserves target. One might thus want to argue that setting an interest rate target is equivalent to setting a borrowed reserves target. This may be true when looking at the allotment decision *in a single open market operation* of a central bank, focussing *on a single market day*. But it is fundamentally wrong when we consider the policy decisions by a body like the US

FOMC. It does not make sense for such a body to decide that "In the inter-meeting period, borrowed reserves should be on average 300 million" (and actually the FOMC never said such a thing). First, this does not tell anything to the borrowers and lenders in the economy, who care in their decisions about interest rates, and which would need to translate the borrowed reserves target into an interest rate, or just would need to wait for the money market outcome. Secondly, it does not make sense to fix a borrowed reserve target over e.g. 8 weeks, since, as argued above, the factors affecting the reserve market, like autonomous liquidity factors, payment volumes, uncertainty, perceptions of the market on liquidity conditions, and range of participants, change every day, and a certain borrowed reserves target would thus mean substantial non-white noise in short term interest rates. Day-to-day monetary policy implementation means maintaining some level of short term interest rates by permanently adjusting quantities with regard to high frequency, partially transitory shocks, which are not or only marginally related to macroeconomic developments. Thus, addressing these short run shocks can be left to the central bank implementation experts, who know in detail the working of the reserves market, but can be completely ignorant on macroeconomic analysis. Of course, the technical experts will, in their day-to-day work, care a lot about the relationship between reserve quantities and short term interest rates, but these relationships are just ever-changing and, again, have no significant relation to the macroeconomic state of the economy.

Once this is admitted, it becomes clear that RPD in fact cannot be applied seriously in practice, i.e. reserve quantity concepts can never be operational targets in the sense of being the variable that is announced by the central bank decision making body to be targeted by the central bank implementation experts in day-to-day practice in an inter-meeting period of one or two months. Thus, RPD appears either to be a simple misunderstanding, or as a smokescreen used to disguise the responsibility of the central bank for short term interest rates, and the implied responsibility for the fortunes of savers, investors, speculators, entrepreneurs, employees, etc.

Finally, note one important implication of the SID model on the causality between the recourse to standing facility and the spread between the standing facility(ies) rate(s) and the market rate. In the SID, model, one would view the causality as running from the expected recourse to the facilities to the spread (as spelled out clearly in the Radcliffe report). In contrast, US literature has for the last 80 years tended to assume a reversed causation, e.g. that the lower the spread between the discount rate and the market rate, the lower will be the cost of taking recourse, and thus the higher will be the recourse. Even an RPD-critical author like Goodhart (1989, p. 326), explains that "the demand for borrowed reserves is a function of the margin between market interest rates and the discount rate". Reversed causation statements can be found in the US literature consistently from Fed Governor McDougal in 1921 ("the discount rate policy should be one which should hold those rates at high or slightly higher than the prevailing rates in the commercial centres", see Meltzer, 2003) to Mishkin in 2004 ("a higher discount rate raises the costs of borrowing from the Fed, so banks will take out fewer discount loans.") The origins of this reversed causation perspective are clearly related to RPD, and its associated denial of responsibility of the central bank for short term market interest rates (see Bindseil, 2004, chapter 4, for a more detailed discussion of the "reversed causation fallacy").

#### 5. The rise of RPD in the US: 1914-1930

As has been well-documented (e.g. Friedman and Schwartz, 1963, Meltzer, 2003), the organisational set-up of the Federal Reserve System in 1914 suffered from a series of shortcomings. Already Warburg (1930, II, p. 843, which is the reprint of an interview from 1923) summarised:

"Two dangers gravely menace the future of the Federal Reserve System. The greater of these dangers is the growing political pressure on the Reserve Board, tending to wrench the Reserve System away from sound banking and economic practice... The second is excessive decentralisation, which has produced a serious lack of cohesion in the System..."

In fact not only the post-1923 future, but also the first ten years of the Fed had suffered from these two issues, and in addition, from a lack of experience, a too high influence of commercial banks, and the confrontation to a major challenge, namely the Government's wish to finance WWI at low interest rates. As again Warburg (1930, II, p. 296) puts it: "In the life and death struggle of war, sound economic precepts have to give way to the dictates of self-preservation."

All issues together caused a failure of the Fed to raise interest rates as it would have been required to maintain price stability. The economic impact of the too loose monetary policy of the Fed in its first years was substantial: while the wholesale price index increased from 1914 to 1920 by 150%, it declined in the following phase of restrictive policy (beginning in November 1919) again within two years by around 35%, the latter development being associated with a decline in real GDP of more than 20% (see e.g. Metzler, 2003).

What makes the episode extraordinary in the case of the Fed and distinguishes it from other national monetary histories of WWI and the early 1920s, was the ex post rationalization given to it, namely that the reasons for the inflation in the first six years of the Fed had not been the failure of the monetary authorities to hike short term interest rates, *but excessive borrowing by the banks through the discount window, i.e. not rates were the problem, but quantities.* This switch of paradigm seems to take place rather precisely around 1920, with discussion after this date highlighting consistently the quantity dimension. Two main events seem to explain the switch exactly in 1920 namely (i) the above-mentioned start of the tightening of monetary policy in November 1919 and its substantial impact on economic activity, and (ii) an academic event, namely the invention of the money multiplier by the American C.A. Philipps (1920).

Even Friedman and Schwartz (1963, 250), who are otherwise definitely not in the camp of SID, are astonished by the fact that e.g. in the 1921 annual reports of the Board of Governors, explicit discussion of the Fed's aggressive hiking of interest rates after November 1919 and the implied deflation and recession is avoided:

"It is hard to escape the conclusion that... this ... is designed to turn aside criticism without either meeting them or making explicit misstatements... For example, in the whole nine-page section, neither the words "discount rate" nor any synonyms occurs... As implied by the absence of the words discount rate, nothing at all is said in the discussion of fundamental principles about the criteria for discount rates or about the effect of the level of discount rates on the total level of Federal reserve Credit... It is natural human tendency to take credit for good outcomes and seek to avoid the blame for bad."

Also Goodfriend (2003) suggests a similar interpretation: "It is no exaggeration to say that the Fed was traumatized by its first use of interest rate policy... After its unhappy experience managing transparent discount rate policy geared to the gold standard in the early 1920s, the Fed set out to rethink its operating procedures..." and borrowed reserves targeting was invented. Again, according to Goodfriend (2003):

"Borrowed reserves targeting allowed the Fed to manage short-term interest rates much as before, but less visibly. It appeared to loosen the link between market rates and the discount rate and enabled the Fed to talk about interest rate policy in terms of borrowed reserves rather than short-term interest rates."

After this denial of previously undisputed monetary policy logic, the Fed for some reason did not manage to really return to normality with regard to its operational target for 70 years. In the early 1920s, we find Fed officials more and more rationalizing why interest rates are secondary, and quantities are more relevant as operational target. An early statement of the new paradigm, RPD, is by Paul Warburg in an interview in 1923 (Warburg, 1930, II, p. 851):<sup>11</sup>

"Interviewer: As a check to unhealthy business developments, is a change in the discount rate more, or less effective than open-market operations by the Reserve Banks? Warburg: Changing the discount rate has the wider influence on sentiment, but its immediate actual effect may at times be slower and less definitive... Open market operations by the reserve banks, on the contrary, have more immediate and definitive

effects. By increasing or decreasing its open-market investments, the Federal Reserve System can on its own initiative exercise a strong regulatory effect... When the Federal Reserve System increases or decreases its aggregate of investments, it thereby expands, contracts, or re-establishes the reserves of member banks. It therefore commands very far-reaching effects, because by its open market operations it may lengthen or shorten the reserve base which supports and controls the size of the inverted pyramid of bank loans that rests upon it."

Open market operations thus had become the key official monetary policy instrument. Open market operations, by injecting free bank reserves, were supposed to trigger credit and monetary expansion via the money multiplier. An inherent element of RPD was right from the beginning the view that recourse to discount borrowing was potentially evil, as the inflation until 1919 had been attributed to excessive recourse to the discount window. To rationalize the failure to hike rates during WWI, it was necessary to argue that raising the level of the discount rate would not have been sufficient to limit monetary expansion, and that therefore, non-price disincentives – mainly moral suasion – were necessary to discourage use of the discount facility. This new approach went so far that discount rates were from then onwards kept below market rates, such as to make clear that moral suasion and burdensome administrative procedures indeed became *necessary* to prevent banks from making use of the facility.

It was of course too obvious that this technique was quite different from the one that the Bank of England had established on the basis of its rich 19<sup>th</sup> century experience, and Bank officials thus saw a need to defend the change of paradigm in half-official publications. For instance Goldenweiser (1925, p. 46) argues that (rather unspecific) financial and institutional differences would have required a different approach:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> In a speech delivered in 1924, Warburg (1930, II, p. 861) also speaks of "the fallacy of the contention that it is practicable through discount rates to regulate the movement in prices." Warburg had been a member of the Federal Reserve Board from 1914 to 1918.

"Bank rate in England has traditionally been above the open market rate, and this relationship has been considered as an essential part of credit administration by a central institution. This rate relationship is based on the principle that the central bank must not be resorted by the market, except at times of real necessity and at some expense to the borrower, who must pay more for money obtained from the central bank than he receives from his customers on his own loan...The conclusion... is, that while there are many analogies between banking conditions and practices in this country and in England, there are sufficient differences in the nature of the money market and in the character of services rendered by the Bank of England and the Federal reserve banks, to make it impossible to follow British precedents in American banking practice."

One may conclude that within the few first years of the 1920s, through a surprising rationalization of the war inflation, and certainly inspired by the appearance of he moneymultiplier in 1920, RPD was born, with all its elements that would persist until the end of the 20<sup>th</sup> century and which until today populate monetary economics textbooks. Still, if we look at some other, less official publications of staff members of the Fed, like Burgess (1927), and Riefler (1930), one feels that debate is still there, and that the new paradigm is not yet taken for granted against the classical techniques of the Bank of England.<sup>12</sup> Nevertheless, it appears that RPD was consolidating more and more, as also being documented by the replacement, in 1930, of the OMIC (Open market investment committee) by the OMPC (Open market *policy* committee), which itself is replaced in 1935 by the FOMC. Thus, monetary policy is supposed to have become open market operations policy, i.e. policy of controlling the amount of reserves through open market operations. The FOMC has maintained its name until today, even if there is no doubt that the FOMC has (again) adopted SID.

The interpretation of the early Fed experience provided here is broadly in line with Goodfriend (2003), but somewhat in contradiction to Meltzer's (2003) and Humphrey's (2001). For instance Humprey (2001, 66) argues that

"... the Fed deliberately shunned the best empirical policy framework that mainstream monetary science had to offer. Developed by Irving Fisher and other U.S. quantity theorists, this framework was the outcome of an evolution in numerical measurement that had been occurring in monetary economics since the early years of the 1900s.... Here was a framework the Fed could use to conduct policy and to stabilize the economy. Yet the Fed refused to have anything to do with this framework and its components. Instead of concentrating on the money stock, the price level, and other indicators featured in the quantity theory, the Fed focused on such measures as the level of market interest rates,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Meltzer (2003) calls the operational doctrine developed by the Fed during the 1920s the "Riefler-Burgess doctrine". In his review of Meltzer's book, Laidler (2003) summarises this doctrine as follows: "The Riefler-Burgess doctrine started from the observation that member banks tended to reduce their borrowing from the Fed when it made open market purchases of securities, and decreased them in the wake of open market sales. This "scissors effect" was explained by postulating that the banks were always reluctant to be in debt to the Fed, and it was argued that, as a result, their level of indeptedness could be used as an indicator of the stance of policy. Open market purchases thus gave the banks the funds needed to reduce their discounts and eased policy, while sales forced them to borrow, and tightened it." One may find that this supposed doctrine should be split up into two elements. The first one is the relationship between open market operations and the recourse to standing facilities, which was part of the "orthodox doctrine" of the Bank of England (see e.g. Keynes, 1930), and which is nothing more than a reflection of the central bank balance sheet identity. It is therefore doubtful whether one should attribute this insight to Burgess and Riefler. The second point within the supposed Burgess-Riefler doctrine is the claim that indebtedness, i.e. a quantity, is an appropriate measure of the monetary policy stance. Obviously, we would deny this from an SID perspective, and argue that making indebtedness an indicator of the stance, without focussing on the impact on short term money market rates, was just an early statement of RPD, namely in its "borrowed reserves" variant. Actually, both Burgess and Riefler do not, compared to official Fed statements of that time, appear to be strong supporters of such an approach. At the contrary, the analysis in their respective books seems rather differentiated, still being influenced by the Bank of England's orthodox view (i.e. by SID).

the volume of member bank borrowing, and the type and amount of commercial paper eligible for rediscount at the central bank."

Humphrey, maybe in the tradition of Poole (1970), does not seem to distinguish sufficiently between concepts of monetary policy *implementation*, and concepts of *macroeconomic monetary analysis*. Maybe Humphrey is right to argue that the Fed should have relied more on Irving Fisher's quantity theory as macro-theoretical basis to guide the setting of its operational target across time. But this does not imply that in its day-to-day operations, it should not have looked in particular at short term market rates (as operational target), at the use of standing facilities and at the types of eligible papers (both being important practical parameters of day-to-day implementation). All central banks presently do so, independently of what role they attribute to the quantity theory of money, and it is thus not obvious to criticise the Fed for having done so in its early years. If any critique is appropriate (apart from the one that the Fed maybe did not have an adequate macro-theory), then it is the one that also the Fed mixed up the two things, and by leaning towards borrowed reserves targeting, inappropriately applied quantity-oriented thinking to day-to-day monetary policy implementation, instead of replicating the implementation techniques used e.g. by European central banks and the Bank of England in particular.

#### 6. RPD according to Keynes

From the early 1930s until the early 1950s, monetary policy had, in the US and many other countries, a break in the sense that short term interest rates were anyway at or close to zero, and that the main danger was deflation, not inflation. RPD emerged in the US with consolidated dominance after this break. It is plausible that one reason for this was the enthusiastic support to RPD by Keynes, mainly in the second volume of his Treaties on Money of 1930. This support seems surprising today, the more as Keynes' argumentation appears to have obvious weaknesses. Maybe two psychological factors may help to understand what went on in Keynes' mind when he provided such transatlantic help to RPD. First, Keynes of course liked modern, affirmative approaches, and RPD, having emerged in the 1920s from scratch, was exactly such a theory. Secondly, RPD was, as will be described below, systematically ignored by the Bank of England, and Keynes had more and more during the 1920s become a general arch-critic of the "orthodoxy" of the Bank of England. Praising RPD was thus also an additional way for Keynes to attack the Bank of England's supposed refusal to accept modern thinking.

Nevertheless, Keynes' (1930, p. 226) defense of RPD is very interesting, because it more explicitly addresses a number of related key issues than any other author of his time, and thus guides us today most easily to the weaknesses of RPD:

"The first and direct effect of an increase in the Bank of England's investments is to cause an increase in the reserves of the joint stock banks and a corresponding increase in their loans and advances on the basis of this. This may react on market rates of discount and bring the latter a little lower than they would otherwise have been. But it will often, though not always, be possible for the joint stock banks to increase their loans and advances without a material weakening in the rates of interest charged".

Today, and that should have been valid also in the 1920s, one would argue that the money market rates obviously always react faster than the loan and investment policy of commercial banks, i.e. it is precarious to assume that "the first and direct effect" of excess reserves are additional loans. As is well known to anybody who had been in direct contacts to money markets at least since Bagehot (1873), small excesses or deficits in the money market are sufficient to push interest rates to zero or to very high levels, respectively (or to the levels of

central bank standing facilities). In addition, whoever has worked in the credit department of a commercial bank, will confirm that the decision to grant a loan is never done on the basis of the bank's current level of excess reserves. Excess reserves can be traded in the money market, and what matters is their opportunity cost<sup>13</sup>. Seeing perhaps the flaw in his argument, Keynes (1930, p. 227) takes recourse to more sophisticated reasoning:

"I fancy that a considerable part of the value of open market operations delicately handled by the central bank may lie in its tacit influence on the member banks to move in step in the desired direction. For example, at any given moment a particular bank may find itself with a small surplus reserve on the basis of which it would in the ordinary course purchase some additional assets, which purchase would have the effect of slightly improving the reserve positions of the other central banks, and so on. If at this moment the central bank snips off the small surplus by selling some asset in the open market, the member bank will not obstinately persist in its proposed additional purchase by recalling funds from the money market for the purpose; it will just not make the purchase... In this way a progressive series of small deflationary open-market sales by the central bank can induce the banks progressively to diminish little by little the scale of their operations... In this way, much can be achieved without changing the bank rate."

But again, the assumptions taken appear too arbitrary and to lack micro-foundation. What one finds today least convincing is that the whole argument seems to rely on a lack of willingness of the banks to arbitrage, which is not even well explained. In fact, Keynes (1930) himself recognizes that his enthusiasm for open market operations goes beyond the one of many central bankers of the 1920s, including Benjamin Strong.

Finally, it is worth noting that Keynes also promoted the idea to actively use *changes* of reserve requirements for the control of excess reserves of banks, and thus, via the money multiplier, of credit and monetary expansion. Keynes (1930, pp. 65-68) introduces the case by an example from the UK, in which no reserve requirements were imposed at that time:

"The Midland Bank had... maintained for some years past a reserve proportion a good deal higher that those of its competitors... beginning in the latter part of 1926, a gradual downward movement became apparent in the Midland Bank's proportion from about 14.5% in 1926 to about 11.5% in 1929... this... in fact enabled the banks as a whole to increase their deposits (and their advances) by about GBP 100 million without any new increase in their aggregate reserves... Now, as it happened, this relaxation of credit was in the particular circumstances greatly in the public interest...

Nevertheless, such an expansion of the resources of the member banks should not, in any sound modern system, depend on the action of an individual member bank... For we ought to be able to assume that the central bank will be at least as intelligent as a member bank and more to be relied on to act in the general interest. I conclude therefore, that the American system of regulating by law the amount of the member bank reserves is preferable to the English system of depending on an ill-defined and somewhat precarious convention."

Keynes (1930, p. 68) then proposes a concrete specification of a reserve requirement system, to conclude enthusiastically on its power: "These regulations would greatly strengthen the power of control in the hands of the Bank of England – placing, indeed, in its hands an almost complete control over the total volume of bank money – without in any way hampering the legitimate operations of the joint stock banks." This argumentation was taken up by central

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> In addition, several other considerations, not relating to excess reserves, are key to the decision of granting a loan, like in particular the credit risk assessment.

banks, and for instance the Board of Governors (1954), (1964), (1974) lists the three main instruments of monetary policy implementation as follows: "Discount operations, Open market operations, *Changes* in reserve requirements" (emphasis added), i.e. reserve requirements were a relevant tool especially in so far as they could be changed. Indeed, both the Fed and e.g. the Deutsche Bundesbank frequently changed reserve ratios from the 1950s to the 1970s, giving evidence that RPD also determined their understanding of this instrument of monetary policy. As one example of the countless changes of reserve requirements in the US during that period, and how directly they were apparently motivated by RPD, consider the following Fed policy actions; similar changes were implemented again in November of the same year):

"Authorized member banks to count about \$500 million of their vault cash as required reserves, effective for country banks August 25 and for central reserve and reserve city banks September 1.

Reduced reserve requirements against net demand deposits at central reserve city banks from 18 to 17 <sup>1</sup>/<sub>2</sub> per cent, effective September 1, thereby releasing about \$125 million of reserves".

#### 7. RPD according to monetarism

Generally, monetarists, who liked quantities, but tended to dislike the idea of central bank control of (short term) interest rates, broadly supported RPD, although they were often not so keen on being bothered with a need to split up their most cherished concept for monetary policy implementation, the monetary base, into petty-minded technical concepts like excess reserves, free reserves, borrowed reserves, etc. It seems likely that popular monetarists like especially Friedman played an important role to prevent RPD from being silently buried already in the late 1960s.

The maybe most detailed discussion of monetarist theory applied to monetary policy implementation is Friedman (1960). Friedman (1960, pp. 50-51) argues that open market operations alone are a sufficient tool for monetary policy implementation, and that standing facilities (e.g. the US discount facility) and *changing* of reserve requirements could thus be abolished:

"The elimination of discounting and of variable reserve requirements would leave open market operations as the instrument of monetary policy proper. This is by all odds the most efficient instrument and has few of the defects of the others... The amount of purchases and sales can be at the option of the Federal Reserve System and hence the amount of high-powered money to be created thereby determined precisely. Of course, the ultimate effect of the purchases or sales on the final stock of money involves several additional links... But the difficulty of predicting these links would be much less... The suggested reforms would therefore render the connection between Federal Reserve action and the changes in the money supply more direct and more predictable and eliminate extraneous influences on Reserve policy."

What may be most striking in Friedman's (1960) analysis is his silence on the role of short term interest rates and in particular about the fact that his proposals would imply a high volatility at least of short and medium term rates. Similarly, Friedman and Schwartz (1963) in their critique of the Fed policy in the 1930s, show little curiosity for interest rates, but argue again and again in a strict multiplier framework. They follow the historical development of the monetary base and monetary aggregates to argue within the multiplier model that open market operations could

have increased the monetary base and hence the money stock, preventing or at least attenuating the crisis of the 1930s (p. 393):

"If the deposit ratios had behaved as in fact they did, the change from a decline in high powered money of 2  $\frac{1}{2}$  per cent to a rise of 6  $\frac{1}{2}$  per cent... would have changed the monetary situation drastically, so drastically that such an operation was almost surely decidedly larger than was required to convert the decline in the stock of money into an appreciable rise."

The probably most extreme statements of monetarist views on monetary policy implementation can be found in Friedman (1982). Friedman (1982, p. 101) summarizes what he regarded as the predominant opinion on monetary policy implementation at that time, and what could not be more different from today's homogenous view of central bankers (or the pre-1914 view, etc.):

"Experience has demonstrated that it is simply not feasible for the monetary authority to use interest rates as either a target or as an effective instrument... Hence, there is now wide agreement that the appropriate short-run tactics are to express a target in terms of monetary aggregates, and to use control of the base, or components of the base, as an instrument to achieve the target".

He then elaborates a rather concrete proposal regarding open market operations:

"Set a target path for several years ahead for a single aggregate – for example M2 or the base. ... Estimate the change over an extended period, say three or six months, in the Fed's holdings of securities that would be necessary to approximate the target path over that period. Divide that estimate by 13 or 26. Let the Fed purchase precisely that amount every week in addition to the amount needed to replace maturing securities. Eliminate all repurchase agreements and similar short-term transactions."

This proposal is in fact neither a reserves, nor a monetary base target, but an "open market operations quantity" target, and thus an additional variant of an RPD inspired operational target of monetary policy. It is again too difficult to imagine how this proposal would work in practice, and why it should make sense if we accept the realities of the money market as first described by Bagehot.

Despite the trend of the last 20 years back towards SID, monetarists have insisted on their views on monetary policy implementation until very recently. In a Wall Street Journal article of 20 August 2003, Friedman again advocates his approach as described for instance in 1960 and 1982. Meltzer (2003) also reviews the Fed's early history largely from a RPD perspective, and argues, without a reference to interest rates, that (pp. 62-63) a "complete theory of the monetary system" requires studying all aspects of the monetary base (and its components).

Although today's central bankers are likely to reject the monetarist approach to the choice of the operational target of monetary policy as just one more, and even particularly reality-distant, variant of RPD, Friedman needs to be praised for having always insisted on the point that a target that is not quantified (i.e. for which no concrete figure is given), cannot be a serious target, and leaves in the dark what the central bank is actually aiming at. This includes the operational target, which the Fed did not want to specify since 1920. By insisting that the Fed should concretely quantify its supposed quantitative targets, he eventually contributed to push it into the 1979-82 episode, which then revealed so easily the non-practicability of RPD. It is the more astonishing that Friedman has remained an un-compromised supporter of RPD until today.

# 8. "Dogs may bark, but the caravan moves on"<sup>14</sup>: RPD's failure to conquer the Bank of England

Although the UK had gone through an as bad inflation as the US during the war, and both went through deflation in the 1920s to restore the pre-war gold standard, the two central banks in 1920 could not have been more different. The Bank of England had a well-elaborated money market technique in 1920, derived from a century of experience. It had a fair degree of independence from the Government, and was not decentralised as the Fed (see e.g. Sayers, 1976). Also, it completely lacked the transparency to which the Fed was committed since its very start, implying that it did not need to rationalise anything through theory, i.e. it also did not need to rationalise failure through fallacious theory, as the Fed was tempted to do in the early 1920s. In this respect, it is amusing to consider the following excerpt from the MacMillan Committee minutes of 1929, which is also an example for the relationship between Keynes (who was member of this Committee) and the Bank (Sayers, 1976, Vol. III, p. 154-156; Governor Norman had shown so little interest in these hearings that he sent his deputy Harvey to most of them):

Committee member Gregory: "I should like to ask you, Sir Ernest, whether you have ever considered the possibility of the Bank issuing an Annual Report on the lines of the Annual Report of the Federal Reserve Board, for instance?"

Deputy Governor Harvey: "I confess I am sometimes nervous at the thought of publication unless it is historical. The question is whether, when it is merely historical it is of any particular value, or whether from the fact that it is issued from the central bank undue importance may be attributed to certain things that are stated, more importance than perhaps they merit."

Committee member Keynes: "Arising from Professor Gregory's questions, is it a practice of the Bank of England never to explain what its policy is?"

Harvey: "Well, I think it has been our practice to leave our actions to explain our policy." Keynes: "Or the reasons for its policy?"

Harvey: "It is a dangerous thing to start to give reasons."

Keynes: "Or to defend itself against criticism?"

Harvey: "As regards criticism, I am afraid, through the Committee may not all agree, we do not admit there is need for defence; to defend ourselves is somewhat akin to a lady starting to defend her virtue."

Also the personality of Governor Montagu Norman (1919-1944) was probably relevant to keep RPD outside the Bank. Himself being an experienced banker and financial markets expert, and the ideal-type of the conservative, independent central banker, he had little sympathies for academic ideas as RPD and their intellectual promoters as Keynes. According to Boyle (1967, 160), Montage Norman looked already in the early 1920s "askanced at Keynes as a clever dilettante with an even greater potential for public mischief..." And Boyle even sees

"... an unnecessary tragedy: Norman, in his petulance, resolved to keep at arm's length a man he regarded as a brilliant but irresponsible individualist, forgetting that responsibility comes when the most uncooperative of individualists can be brought into line by being offered a constructive task... The reaction was human enough; but it gradually deepened into secretive, wholly irrational mistrust of Keynes and all he stood for".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> In a speech delivered in 1938, Bank of England Governor Montagu Norman made reference to this Arab proverb, which caused renewed criticism of his supposedly arrogant attitude, "the stereotyped villain of the thirties..., the sinister, hard-faced banker" – see Boyle, (1967, 288-290).



The described antagonism may eventually explain more why Keynes in 1930 so enthusiastically supported RPD, than why Norman was against: Norman would have been against it without Keynes, but maybe Keynes was only so much in favour because the Bank of England ignored the new paradigm.

After Governor Norman quitted in 1944, and the Bank of England was nationalised after WWII, it is still hard to find any references to RPD in the few publication of the Bank of England. Also the Radcliffe (1959) report seems to be, in terms of implementation technique, quite still in the logic of the "orthodox doctrine" of the pre 1914 Bank of England.

From the early 1970s onwards, the growing academic influence of monetarism again put the Bank under pressure to adopt quantitative concepts. In 1972, a first episode of changes in operational procedures occurred "... to obfuscate the fact that short-term interest rates were set by the monetary authorities", however more under the Government's than under monetarists' pressure (Goodhart, 2004). In 1980, the Bank published a note on "Methods of monetary control", which again argued for disguising the interest rate target, this time clearly from a monetarist perspective. In 1982, the Bank of England announced officially some changes of operational procedures in 1982 (Bank of England, 1982), which was however, according to Goodhart (2004), not more than a "consolation price" to monetary base control advocates. The changes aimed at allowing to reduce somewhat the control of short-term interest rates, and reflected the idea shared by many monetarists that if one wishes to control monetary aggregates, one cannot continue controlling short term rates in the money market. The Bank's "aim would be to keep very short-term interest rates within an unpublished band, set by the authorities by reference to the general monetary situation... Behind these proposals lay the desire to introduce a system which, while preserving the Bank's ability to influence short-term rates, would generally permit market forces a greater role in determining their structure. To allow such play for market forces, the system of pre-determined dealing rates had to be abandoned." However the Bank of England was apparently not willing to follow also in practice the US. It insisted that the changes of the money market procedures provided only "a framework within which it might be possible to operate some form of monetary base control, although it is not currently being used so" (p. 94). Eventually, the Bank of England (1982) again explicitly defended interest rate control, clarifying that selecting the short term interest rate as operational target does not contradict that monetary aggregates may be an intermediate target, or an important indicator variable (such as Thornton had already assumed in 1802):

"The Bank cannot avoid involvement in money market operations, and so, either explicitly or implicitly in the determination of interest rates. The authorities have in fact chosen to continue to exercise substantial influence over very short-term interest rates as a positive element of economic policy. Nevertheless, the operations may be designed to influence the stock of money indirectly, through their effect on interest rates. Indeed, the desire to retain a fairly direct influence over interest rates rests on the view that these may have a significant effect on, for example, the demand for money, the demand for credit, and the exchange rate, with consequences for the development of the economy more generally."

Once the Fed had given up non-borrowed reserves targeting procedures in 1982, pressure on the Bank of England to adopt RPD faded away (Goodhart, 1989 and 2004), and the Bank of England thus eventually had a very narrow escape from applying RPD at any moment during the  $20^{\text{th}}$  century.

#### 9. RPD in the Fed's pre-Volckerian practice: 1920-1979

While it is easy to find out how the Fed officially presented RPD (e.g. Annual Reports, Board of Governors booklets), it is less evident to describe what elements of RPD were really put into practice. As argued above, RPD is not really suitable for practice, as the central bank cannot escape controlling short term interest rates, and as it is the short term interest rate which matters as very starting point of the transmission mechanism. Indeed, RPD in pre-Volckerian Fed practice always remained fuzzy. Still, one can identify three practical features of the Fed's monetary policy in the period 1920-1974 (and 1979-82), which are definitely reflecting RPD:

- Between 1920 and 2002, the Fed restricted recourse to the discount window through moral suasion and administrative burden. Recourse to the discount window is considered evil under RPD because it is supposed to imply that the banking system itself exerts influence on reserves. Monetary aggregates, which depend on reserves via the money multiplier, would thus be out of CB control.
- Denying responsibility for short-term interest rates was translated in practice into avoiding any operations, which would suggest such responsibility. Both a discount window being regulated uniquely by the price mechanism, and Bank of England style open market operations specified as fixed rate tender thus needed to be avoided. Indeed, the Fed has always conducted its open market operations through variable rate tenders.
- Not specifying exactly the operational target. In contrast to short-term interest rates, which can be controlled at any degree of precision wished by the central bank, the Fed never insisted to indeed steer any reserve quantity with exactitude. Thus, the Fed never committed to a precise level of its operational target (maybe with the exception of the 1979-82 episode), and one could thus argue that there was never any precise operational target at all in the Fed's practice from 1920 to 1974.

Apart from these features of RPD, which are general for the Fed in the period considered, different phases of applied RPD can be distinguished (see Meulendyke, 1998, or Strongin, 1995, for a more detailed description).

The period **1920-1930** appears to be characterised by a relatively un-dogmatic application of RPD. After the refusal to discuss the level of the discount rate in the early 1920's Annual reports, this ban is soon lifted and open market operations and discount rate setting are presented in the Annual reports jointly as main policy measures. Still, no explicit responsibility for short term rates is taken, and changes of discount rates are often presented as *following* changes in market rates.

**1931-1952**: During this period, the Fed tended to leave the market with substantial excess reserves, such that money market rates were mostly close to zero (and reflected to a significant degree credit risk). According to Friedman and Schwartz (1963), the Fed would have been too restrictive in its excess reserves policy during the 1930s which would have contributed to shrink monetary aggregates, i.e. they criticise that the Fed would not have acted in the light of RPD and the assumption of a stable money multiplier.

**1952-1970**: The official approach of the Fed during this period was "free reserves targeting", i.e. targeting of excess reserves minus borrowed reserves. The practical approach was eclectic both with regard to the measurement of the monetary conditions (as suggested by the above-mentioned quote of Anderson, 1969), and with regard to the use of instruments. Annual reports provide evidence that changes of reserve requirements, open market operations, and changes of the discount rate were all actively used, whereby the latter was again normally presented as following market rates, instead of guiding them. Taking in addition into account the frequent

changes with regard to "direct measures of monetary control", like margin requirements or deposit rate ceilings, one gets the impression that monetary policy was overly complex, and that the effects of all the policy measures and their interaction cannot really have been well controlled.

**1970-1974.** Towards the end of the 1960s, the federal funds rate was becoming more important as an indicator of monetary policy. However, in 1972, another quantitative operational target was defined, namely *reserves on private deposits* (a subset of total required reserves). According to Meulendyke, 1998, the FOMC set two months growth rates for this quantity, consistent with the desired M1 growth and instructed the Fed New York trading desk to alter reserve provision in a way to achieve the targets. However, fearing that this would raise the fed funds volatility, the FOMC also constrained the fed funds rate. In fact, the relatively narrow fed funds rate limits eventually dominated, and the reserves targets were often missed. In 1973, reserves on private deposits were redefined from an operational to an intermediate target, taking its place with M1. It was dropped as an indicator in 1976.

In the period 1974-1979, the Fed implicitly targeted a federal funds rate level, intervening in the market whenever the fed funds rate moved out of a very narrow band (see e.g. Cook and Hahn, 1989).

#### 10. Volckerian RPD (1979-82)

The Fed's monetary policy in the  $20^{\text{th}}$  century took twice a strong des-inflationary stance causing economic recession and unemployment: in 1919-1921, and in 1979-82. The first period witnessed the birth of RPD, while the second witnessed the only real attempt of its application. In October 1979, Paul Volcker became chairman of the Board of Governors and felt that inflation, which had two-digit levels during most of the 1970s needed eventually to be stopped. The Fed concluded that the time was ripe for taking a monetarist approach also serious in day-to-day monetary policy implementation, by substituting interest rate targeting by an RPD target, which this time was defined as *non-borrowed reserves*, i.e. reserves held by banks minus borrowed reserves, the recourse to the discount window.

Although Axilrod and Lindsey (1981) provided an official scientific motivation for the 1979-82 approach, it seems difficult today to reconstruct what was exactly done. According to Strongin (1995, p. 475):

"Non-borrowed reserves targeting was the most complicated of the reserves operating procedures that the Federal Reserve has ever used and it lasted the shortest length of time.... Considerable debate within the Federal Reserve system about how these procedures actually worked is still going on."

Following Meulendyke, 1998<sup>15</sup>, the Fed began to target reserve measures derived from desired three months growth rates of M1. For the federal funds rate, a target corridor of around 5 per cent was set. In practice the FOMC first chose the M1 target for the calendar quarter and asked staff to estimate consistent levels of total reserves, which was challenging due to the various different reserve ratios on different types of deposits. From the total reserve target, the trading desk derived the non-borrowed reserve target by subtracting a level of borrowed reserves that had been indicated by the FOMC. The Board of Governors staff made estimates of consistent combinations of borrowed reserves and money growth for the given discount rate. Since lagged reserves accounting prevailed at that time, the reserves in fact could not be controlled

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Another account is Goodhart (1989). A detailed modelling attempt is provided by Goodfriend (1983).

immediately. An increase of money above the target meant with some lag, reserves beyond target, and, in case the Desk was unwilling to provide the non-borrowed reserves, an increase of discount window lending (and hence of the fed funds rate). The domestic policy directive formulated by the FOMC and effective on 1 January 1980 for instance specified:

"...the FOMC seeks to foster monetary and financial conditions that will resist inflationary pressures while encouraging moderate economic expansion... The Committee agreed that these objectives would be furthered by growth of M-1, M-2, and M-3 within ranges of  $1 \frac{1}{2}$  to  $4 \frac{1}{2} \%$ , 5-8%, and 6-9%, respectively...In the short run, the Committee seeks to restrain expansion of reserve aggregates to a pace consistent with decelerating in growth of M-1, M-2 and M-3 to rates that would hold growth of these monetary aggregates ... within the Committee's longer run ranges, provided that in the period before the next regular meeting the weekly average federal funds rate remains within a range of 11  $\frac{1}{2}$  to 15 1/2 %."

It is noteworthy that even at that time, the Fed felt unable to quantify its quantitative operational target (although it could quantify the intermediate monetary targets), but complemented the correspondingly vague quantitative operational targets with a concrete and explicit corridor for the federal funds rate. One is thus tempted to conclude that the idea of a quantitative operational target remained a spectre even under the hardest attempt ever to give substance to it.

Furthermore, discretion was eventually never eliminated, and the FOMC often changed the mechanism and gave leeway to the Desk to make adjustments<sup>16</sup>. To reduce over-weighting of weekly developments, the targets were formulated as averages for the inter-meeting periods (the FOMC started to meet in a rhythm of 8 weeks in 1981), which had the draw-back that towards the end of this period, very large adjustments would often have been needed. Again, discretion finally prevailed to avoid that taking quantitative operational rules too seriously would create excessive volatility of short-term rates. Market participants of course closely observed the behavior of M1 in order to anticipate future moves of the fed funds rate. Although the procedure was expected to create more interest rate volatility, the actual result surprised everybody negatively, especially since it not only increased the fed funds volatility, but apparently even the one of monetary aggregates. In 1980, the Monetary control act with its changes to the reserve requirement system and subsequent deregulatory measures triggered further changes in the evolution of M1 and M2, and possibly contributed in 1982/83 to a weakening of the relationship between these monetary aggregates and economic activity / prices. This was taken as a good excuse to change again operating procedures in 1983.

Today's views on the Volcker episode are split. Some, as for instance Goodhart (2001) and Mishkin (2004) argue that the whole approach was just about avoiding the Fed to take responsibility for the necessary strong hiking or interest rates to bring down inflation, and the associated economic effects such as a strong rise in unemployment. In the words of Goodhart (2001), the episode, "if properly analysed, reveal that the Fed continued to use interest rates as its fundamental modus operandi, even if it dressed up its activities under the mask of monetary base control... there was a degree of play-acting, even deception..." The "smokescreen" created by Volcker would thus have been simply a necessary condition for bringing inflation to an end under conditions of imperfect central bank independence (see also Axilrod 2000). Although this "political economy" explanation is plausible to some extent, and is also in line with the interpretation given to the sudden rise of RPD in the Fed's discourse at the beginning of the 1920s, one should probably also agree that Volcker and his FOMC colleagues were at least

 $<sup>^{16}</sup>$  For instance Cook (1989, 4) concludes that "while some of the movements in the funds rate over this period resulted from the automatic adjustment, most of the movement – roughly two-thirds – was due to judgemental actions of the Federal Reserve".

partially convinced by RPD. Also the transcripts of the FOMC meetings of that period, which can be found on the Board of Governor's website, suggest that serious discussion on the nonborrowed reserves targeting approach took place, and that this was *not* only play-acting in the anticipation of a public release of transcripts many years after (this future release was not known at the time of the meetings). These transcripts also illustrate one further reason why eventually the Volckerian approach had to be abandoned: it was overly complex in its formulation of various operational and intermediate targets. For instance in the transcript of the meeting of 31 March 1981, which is the oldest one made available on the Board's website, Volcker needs to admit on four occasions that he is "confused" or "lost", and also FOMC members Solomon, Corrigan, Black and Ford admit at some stage being "confused" about what they are really doing. Such remains the reader of these transcripts.

As the early 1920s saw the birth of RPD, the early 1980s could be regarded as its climax – but also as the beginning of its decline. In 1980, the BIS had edited a volume dedicated uniquely to the "monetary base approach" to monetary policy implementation, although most central bank practitioners writing in that volume expressed reservations (BIS, 1980). The US Monetary Control Act, prescribing RPD based features such as contemporaneous reserve accounting<sup>17</sup>, came ironically into force in 1983, just after non-borrowed reserve targeting had been given up due to its impracticalities. From 1983 onwards, RPD has been in steady decline, i.e. both the rhetoric of central banks and monetary policy implementation technique has, piece by piece, eliminated elements motivated by RPD. Also academic work started to turn away from RPD, although the related process does not seem to be over.

#### 11. The decline of RPD

The following will briefly review the gradual loss of influence of RPD, and the still ongoing process of adjusting monetary policy implementation technique and textbooks towards SID. The focus will be on the US, but various other countries, which went at least far beyond the UK in adopting elements of RPD, have moved away from it in parallel to the US Fed. The first subsection will summarise again one more time why RPD is wrong, which is probably the fundamental reason why RPD eventually fell apart, even if that only happened after 60-80 years. The second sub-section reviews the main steps of RPD's decline.

#### 11.1 Why RPD is flawed

Before describing the decline of RPD, one should briefly summarise why RPD was bound to fail as being a fallacious doctrine, at least if understood as a doctrine supposed to be useful in practice. For this, one may distinguish between the monetary base approach, and alternative quantitative approaches, which were developed in view of the problems with direct monetary base targeting.

The monetary base approach. First, the monetary base is a heterogeneous composite quantity since it consists of banknotes and reserves (which are themselves subdivided into *required* and *excess* reserves). Only under extremely strong assumptions, changes in these three very different components would be equivalent. *Secondly*, and this is related, there are doubts about the predictability and stability of the money multiplier, especially in case one whishes to base policy actions on it (see e.g. Garfinkel and Thornton, 1991; the monetarist view advocating a sufficient degree of stability of the multiplier is found e.g. in Johannes and Rasche, 1979). In particular, the multiplier is unlikely to remain stable when interest rates move towards zero,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> As argued for instance in Friedman (1982), contemporaneous reserve accounting, i.e. an overlap between the calculation of the reserve base and the reserve maintenance period, would be key to the RPD approach to monetary policy implementation.

since banks then no longer care about holding excess reserves. In so far, when monetary growth is deemed insufficient and excess reserves are injected to make the banks expand credit, the result will be first, in an efficient market, that short term inter-bank interest rates drop to zero (if there is no deposit facility). The fact that interest rates have dropped to zero is of course relevant, and if judged to be permanent for a longer period of time, also medium and longer term rates will drop and economic decisions will be affected. However, once interbank rates have fallen to zero and the central bank continues to increase excess reserves through open market operations at zero interest rates, not much more should happen, i.e. the money multiplier should fall with every further reserves injection. It is insofar difficult to really construct a story where an injection of reserves by the central bank through open market operations sets into motion monetary expansion independently from the interest rate channel. Third, any attempt to control in the short run the monetary base leads to extreme volatility of interest rates since the market will, due to the stochastic and seasonal fluctuations of the demand for base money, permanently either be short or long of reserves, as already observed by Bagehot (1873) and illustrated by pre-Fed US experience. One of the core ideas of central banking is to provide an "elastic currency", i.e. one in which the important transitory fluctuations in base money demand no longer need to disturb via interest rate effects economic conditions. What matters for the key economic decisions, namely to save or consume, to borrow and invest, are interest rates mainly of medium and longer maturity. With an extreme (and non-white noise) volatility of short-term rates, volatility of longer-term rates will also increase. Such volatility will create noise in economic decisions, and hence lead the economy away from equilibrium. Therefore, a necessary condition for promoting monetary base targeting seems to be that interest rates do not matter at all.

Alternative quantitative concepts as operational targets. Being confronted to the conceptual problems of strict monetary base targeting, while still aiming at a framework in which monetary policy transmission could be defined only in terms of quantities from the very start, alternative quantitative targets were soon developed by the Fed and academics (total, free, non-borrowed, borrowed reserves, etc.). By focussing on specific reserves concepts, these approaches eliminated the defect of monetary base targeting to put three fundamentally different things, namely banknotes, required reserves, and excess reserves, into one basket. Also, controlling these quantities in the very short run was clearly easier than controlling the monetary base. However, these approaches were correspondingly less directly linked to the money multiplier story, and therefore needed additional more complex theoretical justification. Although some justifications were given, one would deny today that they were clear. The non-borrowed reserves target applied in the US from 1979 to 1982 was not only complex to derive (see above), but also created volatility of both longer-term interest rates and of monetary aggregates. The free and borrowed reserves targets in contrast seem to be rather close to an interest rate target: their theoretical justification beyond being substitutes for short term rates appear so weak, and their use was in practice so little transparent, that it seems that they were always smokescreens for short term interest rate targeting (see e.g. Goodfriend, 2003). A key assumption to make sense of most alternative quantitative concepts seems to be that it matters for a bank whether reserves are obtained through the borrowing facility or not. However, this assumption ignores the fact that there is (and there has been since the times of Bagehot at least) a highly efficient interbank market for reserves. When lending and borrowing, be it towards other banks or the central bank, banks behave as optimizing agents focusing normally on cost, opportunity cost and return, i.e. on interest rates. Ignoring the optimization behavior of banks in this market and the resulting price formation is hard to justify for economists. Furthermore, today's systematic use of *reverse* open market operations makes even less convincing to base monetary policy implementation on a differentiation between "borrowed" and "non-borrowed" reserves.

Is the right choice of the operation target an empirical question? Although not being in the RPD camp, for instance B. Friedman argued in 1990 that the "modern literature on the subject dates from the formalization of Poole (1970)" (p. 1189) and that "the Poole analysis in this general form has proved highly useful", with "a key part of its contribution has been to establish the *inescapably empirical nature*" of the issue (p. 1192, emphasis added). This view has been re-iterated in much of the modern literature in the Poole (1970) tradition. Although certainly not wrong in a logical sense, from a practical central banker's point of view, insisting that the choice of the operational target is an empirical question is not of serious interest in the sense that the parameter values under which a case for a quantitative operational target could be constructed is beyond what the practitioner conceives to be the relevant set of possible parameter values.

Finally, it is worth coming back to one pro-RPD argument that has been mentioned on occasions ever since Friedman (1960) first alluded to it, namely that banks could *adapt* to a strict quantitative approach to monetary policy implementation, i.e. that if done properly, banks would find ways to avoid that such an approach would imply excess volatility of interest rates. First, one may argue that especially pre-1914 US history of money argues exactly against this, i.e. before the Fed contributed to an "elastic currency", i.e. one in which money was made accessible at a stable interest rate (through the discount window, or through "defensive" open market operations), the banking system was not able to find devices to avoid extreme short term fluctuations of interest rates, with all of its problematic implications. For instance Burgess (1927, pp. 278-279) quotes a report by the Senate Banking and Currency Committee of November 1913 which gives evidence of the incredible volatility of interest rates before the setting up of the Fed: "...during the year 1907 the range of interest for money was from 2 to 45% in January, from 3 to 25% in March, from 5 to 125% in October, from 3 to 75% in November, and from 2 to 25% in December." (This is also in line with Bagehot's analysis of the London money market provided in section 3). Secondly, one could argue that the 1979-82 experiment clearly argues for the inability of banks to cope well with quantitative operational targets, especially since even monetary quantities became more volatile than usual under this regime. Of course, one may always argue that RPD was not implemented the right way by the Fed, and that if it would have been, banks would also have quickly adapted to it (and this is indeed how Friedman, 1982 argued).

#### 11.2 Steps in RPD's decline

Now, consider the following changes in monetary policy implementation technique that took place in the US from the 1980s onwards, and that document the gradual decline of RPD's practical influence:

- Already starting during the 1970s, *changes* of reserve requirements are no longer used as a frequent tool to provide or absorb excess reserves of banks. This could however be regarded as reflection not of the general decline of RPD, but of the fact that the monetarist version of RPD, as advocated by Friedman (1960), eventually gained over some elements promoted by Keynes (1930).
- Again, already in the 1970s, reverse open market operations (repos) become the predominant tool of central banks to steer reserve market conditions, questioning the strict distinction in the US RPD literature between "borrowed" and "non-borrowed" reserves, as well as the praising of open market operations and the condemnation of discount window borrowing. Indeed, considering the leeway in specifying reverse open market operations, the distinction between the two instruments is far less clear than RPD suggests (e.g. a reverse open market operation at a fixed tender rate and pre-announced full allotment is quasi-equivalent to a borrowing facility).

- The 1983-1990 period of borrowed reserves targeting (see Meulendyke, 1998) is most likely an attempt to retreat from RPD without needing to admit it too openly. It probably means in practice focussing again quite unambiguously on rates. Attempts made by the Fed to justify borrowed reserves targeting within a coherent RPD framework indeed seem to be missing.
- In 1994, the gradual move to federal funds rate targeting is completed by announcing, after each FOMC meeting, the decision with regard to the fed funds target rate. This had not even been practice in the 1974-79s episode of interest rate targeting.
- In 1998, for the first time, the "Domestic Policy Directive", which is part of the minutes of the FOMC, contains again a reference to the fed funds target rate, instead of a reference to the vague concept of "reserve pressure". For instance, the domestic policy directive in effect on 1 January 1997 still contains the formula: "in the implementation of policy for the immediate future, the Committee seeks to maintain the existing degree of pressure on reserve position", while the one in effect on 1 January 1998, reads "in the implementation of policy for the immediate future, the Committee seeks conditions in reserve markets consisting with maintaining the federal funds rate at an average of around 5 ½ %". The same formulation is still used at present.
- In 1998, contemporaneous reserve accounting is substituted again by lagged reserves accounting, which facilitates life of both banks and the Fed (as both now again know the level of required reserves before the start of the reserve maintenance period; contemporaneous reserve accounting had been advocated by Friedman as supposed key RPD element since 1960).
- In 2003, the Fed implemented a reform to its discount window, setting the discount rate systematically 100 basis points above the federal funds target rate and thus ending, after more than 80 years, the setting of the discount rate below market rates. The 100 basis points spread between the targeted market rate and the discount rate corresponds in principle to the pre-1914 approach of the Bank of England.

It may appear that the move away from RPD concepts accelerated in 1987, when Greenspan took over from Volcker as Chairman of the Board of Governors. Greenspan was not committed to the 1979-82 RPD experiment, and thus had probably less problems to re-design the Fed's monetary policy operating technique. Greenspan came from Wall Street, he was a recognised financial markets expert, and a personality that would soon dominate the Fed and be regarded by the public as a guru. Maybe somewhat similarly to Montagu Norman 60 years earlier in the UK, his dominance and market knowledge may have helped to keep the implementation rhetoric and practice of his central bank free of fallacious doctrine, even if such doctrine was promoted by many academic economists.

Turning to the official self-description of the Fed's policy, it is worth observing the changes in the 1994 booklet on "The Federal reserve system – Purposes and Functions" relative to its predecessors. There are still some left-overs from RPD: for instance, the idea from the 1979-1982 period that an increase in monetary aggregates and hence in required reserves can set into force self-correcting pressures is repeated. On the other side, the description of the starting point of the transmission mechanism already seems to be half way between RPD and SID: "...monetary policy works through the market for reserves and involves the federal funds rate. A change in the reserves market will trigger a chain of events that affect other short-term interest rates, foreign exchange rates, long-term interest rates, the amount of money and credit in the economy, and levels of employment, output, and prices." In contrast, there is no willingness on the side of the Fed to accept that the 1979-82 episode was discontinued on the basis of disappointing results and the revealed general impracticability of RPD. Instead, the Fed argues that optimal operating procedures depend on macroeconomic circumstances and strategies, as well as on financial market features (Board of Governors, 1994, 35):

"In general, no one approach to implementing monetary policy is likely to be satisfactory under all economic and financial circumstances. The actual approach has been adapted at various times in light of different considerations, such as the need to combat inflation, the desire to encourage sustainable economic growth, uncertainties related to institutional change, and evident shifts in the public's attitudes toward the use of money. When economic and financial conditions warrant close control of a monetary aggregate, more emphasis may be placed on guiding open market operations by a fairly strict targeting of reserves. In other circumstances, a more flexible approach to managing reserves may be required."

This relativist interpretation, which seems to be inspired by Poole (1970), could be questioned on the basis of the general arguments against the practicability of RPD.

The decreasing influence of RPD *in monetary economics* can be measured by the constantly increasing number of recognised authors that view it again as natural to either model monetary policy implementation as a steering of interest rates (e.g. Hamilton, 1996; Bartolini et al., 2002; Woodford, 2001; Ayuso and Repullo; 2003), or to incorporate in macroeconomic models the assumption that the transmission mechanism starts with the central bank's steering of short term interest rates (e.g. Taylor, 1993; Clarida, Galí and Gertler (1999); Woodford, 2003). Although, as will be discussed in the next section, RPD is still persisting in academic literature, the recent vague of publications taking an SID perspective suggests that the trend in monetary economics away from RPD will gain further momentum.

#### 12. RPD's operational legacy and post-modern academic RPD

In the present monetary policy implementation of the FED, one still finds a few minor left-overs from RPD, of which the following three could be mentioned. First, The monetary policy making committee has still the name given to it in 1935, FOMC, although it is today undisputed that its decisions are on the federal funds target level. Second, vault cash is still eligible to fulfil reserve requirements, a specification which had been promoted e.g. by Friedman (1960) on the basis of RPD considerations. As the Fed no longer assigns to reserve requirements any RPD related functions, the eligibility of vault cash does not appear to have a clear purpose any longer (but it of course lowers effective reserve requirements). Third, the discount rate is still set formally by the Board of Governors, and not by the FOMC, suggesting that the two concepts (standing facility rates, target rates) can be viewed separately.

Still, all central banks would view today their task, as central banks did before 1914, and as the Bank of England did consistently throughout the 20<sup>th</sup> century, in line with SID as a steering of short term interest rates in the money market subject to various high frequency shocks unrelated to macroeconomic developments. The Fed even took a kind of lead role in this respect by publishing an explicit target rate, which is circumvented e.g. by the Bank of England and the European Central Bank by an implicit commitment to steer market rates in the form of the announced operations rates of monetary policy instruments. With regard to the ECB, one may more generally feel that it had the blessing of being created when RPD had sufficiently lost influence, such that it could be given easily an RPD free framework, as illustrated for instance by its decision to adopt fully remunerated reserve requirements. One could thus interpret the RPD-less implementation technique of the ECB as giving evidence that in central banking, all remaining RPD features are merely inherited from the past, and that newly designed elements are purely derived from SID logic.

Far more relevant than the above-mentioned residuals of the past in the Fed's monetary policy implementation are the recourses to RPD elements in recent textbook and academic literature.

Consider briefly two best selling under- and graduate textbooks on monetary policy in the US, namely Mishkin (2004) and Walsh (2003).<sup>18</sup> Woodford (2003), as mentioned earlier, appears to take a rather clear SID perspective.

For instance Mishkin (2004, 423-24) criticises, taking up positions of Milton Friedman, that the Fed paid *too much* attention to the federal funds rate from the 1950s and 1970s, and that this would have lead to a pro-cyclical monetary policy.

"As we learned... a rise of national income leads to a rise in market rates. With the rise in interest rates, the Fed would purchase bonds to bid their price up and lower rates to their target level. The resulting increase in the monetary base caused the money supply to rise... A further problem with using interest rates as the primary operating target is that they may encourage an inflationary spiral to get out of control..."

This reasoning seems to contain two critical simplifications well-known from RPD literature: The first consists in not distinguishing interest rates of different maturities, which leads to a confusing chain of causality and the presentation of interest rates as being primarily exogenous. Second, Mishkin's critique seems to confuse possible mistakes of the Fed regarding its monetary policy stance with mistakes in the choice of the appropriate operational target variable. When the economy is at its capacity limits, a more restrictive policy in the form of a higher target short-term interest rate may of course be required. Therefore, the suggested procyclical character of the Fed's policy had nothing to do with the choice of its target, but with the way it mapped its information on the state of the economy into the level of its operational target variable. Mishkin (p. 424) similarly criticizes the use of the fed funds rate as operational target in the 1970s, arguing in addition that it is "peculiar" to control monetary aggregates through short term interest rates. In fact, already Thornton (1802) assumed such an approach, and the fact that most central banks followed it during the 1970s and 1980s, some of them having been successful with it in controlling inflation, also suggests that there is nothing wrong with it (particularly Japan and Germany - see Goodhart, 1989, p. 326). Mishkin (2004) also dedicates 40 pages to derive the money multiplier and the associated monetary transmission channel from open market operations via excess reserves to monetary aggregates, and four pages (571-574) are dedicated to Poole (1970). In sum, it appears that Mishkin (2004), amongst many other textbook authors, is in fact still assuming the relevance of RPD inspired monetary policy implementation.

Walsh (2003) takes a more eclectic approach by surveying rather comprehensively academic literature in the domain of monetary policy, including what he calls "operating procedures". In general, RPD and SID approaches are presented as alternatives, which can be distinguished through a few model parameters, without taking a position for or against one or the other. Literature in the Poole (1970) tradition, such as e.g. Christiano and Eichenbaum (1992), or Strongin (1995), is extensively reviewed. From the point of view of today's central banker, this literature, which may be called "post-modern" RPD literature (as it seems to re-iterate a subject after its age has come to an end) has the following weaknesses. First, as Poole (1970), it does not distinguish clearly between operational targets (which can be controlled on a day-by-day basis, like the short-term interest rate) and intermediate targets (like a monetary aggregate). Also, often, short and long-term interest rates are not distinguished. Second, it is often assumed that the central bank has direct influence on monetary aggregates via open market operations. Much of the literature is inspired by the search for the "liquidity effect", i.e. how central bank action, which is expressed in a change of monetary aggregates via open market operations, affects in a second step interest rates (see D.L.Thornton, 2001, for a critical assessment). Third,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> Another textbook classics which takes RPD for granted is Mankiw (2002), and there are many others.

shocks affecting the day-to-day demand for working balances in the money market (e.g. shortterm changes of payment system uncertainty) are not distinguished from shocks in the "money demand". Bagehot's (1873) insight of the inherent short-term instability of the demand and supply conditions in the money market is thus ignored. Finally, the fact that concrete interest rate targets have been and are announced by central banks as monetary policy decision, but supposed reserve quantity targets were never, does not raise the distrust of the authors towards RPD.

The review of modern textbook and journal literature leaves the central bank practitioner somewhat scared that RPD may continue a reality-detached existence in academic circles, and eventually has its revival also in practice in times that new generations of central bankers with strong academic background feel the need to apply "new" concepts. Hope may however come from the observation that most of the post-modern RPD literature has been launched before 1994, i.e. before the FOMC started to publish openly the federal funds target rate after its meeting, obliging everybody to take note of the fact that the short term interest rate is the Fed's one and only operational target. Also, with Woodford (2003), SID seems to have got back to the centre of recognised research in monetary economics.

#### 13. The lessons from the rise and fall of RPD

From today's perspective, the rise and endurance of RPD, a fallacious doctrine on a key concept of monetary policy (the operational target), and its continued popularity in textbooks and some more recent academic work, are rather astonishing. This paper tried to explain the phenomenon of RPD.

Academics developed theories detached from reality, without resenting or even admitting this detachment. Economic variables of very different nature were mixed up and precision in the use of the different concepts (e.g. operational versus intermediate targets, short-term vs. long-term interest rates, reserve market quantities vs. monetary aggregates, reserve market shocks vs. shocks in the money demand, etc.) was often too low to allow obtaining applicable results. The dynamics of academic research and the underlying incentive mechanisms seem to have lacked a permanent pressure on monetary economists to investigate the realities of day-to-day work of central banks. From today's perspective, one could feel that academic economists unconsciously colluded in their distaste for re-questioning the applicability of macro-economic models on dayto-day implementation of monetary policy, and their lack of willingness to study the actual features of money markets and monetary policy operations. As Goodhart (2001) puts it: "large parts of macro-economics are insufficiently empirical; assumptions are not tested against facts. Otherwise, how could economists have gone on believing that central banks set H [the monetary base] and not i? In so far as the relevant empirical underpinnings of macro-economics are ignored, undervalued or relatively costly to study, it leaves theory too much at the grasp of fashion, with mathematical elegance and intellectual cleverness being prized above practical relevance." Unfortunately, it needs to be admitted that the list of RPD inspired papers that contain empirical (econometric) analysis is long. Indeed, most of the more recent papers in the Poole-1970 tradition, as reviewed by Walsh, 2003, fall into this category. Also, a major work in terms of supporting the return to SID, namely Woodford (2003), is primarily of theoretical nature. One may therefore want to conclude that the decline of RPD suggests that empirical analysis (at least in the sense of econometric analysis) is neither sufficient, nor necessary, to correct mistaken avenues in economics.

*Central bankers* failed to resist the reality-detached theories of academics, or even promoted them as they got convinced or as the theories served their aim to mask their responsibility for short term interest rate and thus for economic developments. It is an interesting, but difficult

question to disentangle in how far exactly the adoption of RPD as official Fed doctrine on monetary policy implementation was deliberate "play-acting" to mask responsibility, and in how far it was just reflecting convictions. Goodfriend (2003) argues that the denial of responsibility was the dominating factor in the 1920s, and for instance Goodhart (2001) and Mishkin (2004) argue so for the 1979-82 episode. At the same time, there are arguments speaking in favour of the theory that many senior central bank officials believed sincerely into RPD. Originally non-public documents, such as FOMC transcripts of the 1979-82 episode, suggest this interpretation. Also statements as the one reported above from Warburg (1930), who, no longer being in service, was outspoken on the weaknesses of the Fed, while at the same time advocating RPD, seem to support the hypothesis that Fed officials believed at least partially in RPD. More importantly, one needs to admit that the majority of US monetary economists (and e.g. Keynes) were convinced of RPD, without any political economy explanation for that, and if academics were, why should central bank senior officials not have been as well? Of course, central bankers are more directly confronted to reality, but academics could have and often indeed looked at money markets and central bank procedures as well (again, Keynes is an example). If we can imagine academic economists to have been honestly convinced by some theory we believe today to be wrong, the same should probably not be denied to central bankers. In sum, it appears difficult to estimate the general degree of conscious play-acting by central bankers in their supposed RPD practice, probably also since it varied considerably across individuals and time.

It seems also noteworthy that both groups, academic economists and central bankers, showed little interest in studying well-documented historical experience (e.g. Bagehot, 1873, King, 1936, Sayers, 1976). Overall, the 20<sup>th</sup> century thus seemed to have witnessed in the domain of monetary policy implementation a strange symbiosis between academic economists stuck in reality-detached concepts, and central bankers who were open to such concepts, partially since they allowed to avoid explicit responsibility. Masking responsibility seemed to be of particular interest whenever the central bank's policies were strongly des-inflationary and thus causing recession and unemployment (in the US in 1919-21 and in 1979-82).

If one wants to find out how the detour via RPD could have been avoided, it may appear natural to compare again the Fed and the Bank of England in the early 1920s, as the latter easily resisted, but the former did not. While one would probably not want to praise today and wish back the lack of transparency and accountability of the old Bank of England, it seems clear that major weaknesses of the Fed relative to the Bank of England, that we would still name weaknesses today, were its lack of independence, excess decentralisation, and lack of experience. Once the Fed had fallen into the trap of RPD (including a below-market rate discount rate), the experience that it would accumulate was rather opaque, and the likelihood that Bank of England experience would be considered declined more and more as the Fed developed its own traditions. As we want central banks to be accountable and transparent, the main conclusion we have to draw maybe, one more time, the need of central bank independence. If the Fed would have been fully independent from the US Government at least directly after WW1, it would probably have had far less incentives to deny the validity of well-established central bank technique, namely that short term interest rates are the operational target of monetary policy.

With the return of central banks to explicit interest rate control, and the success of compatible academic work like e.g. Taylor (1993) and Woodford (2003), there is, despite the continued textbook and academic journal presence of RPD, a good chance that this episode in monetary economics will in the future be regarded as a 20<sup>th</sup> century debate only. One may conclude in a slightly provocative way that RPD is a bit like *communism*: it was first supposed to be practised around 1920, its failure became obvious during the 1980s, but still today some intellectuals believe that it could be the better approach - if only done properly.

#### References

Axilrod, S.H. (2000), "The role of interest rates in federal reserve decision making: discussion", in: R.W. Kopcke and L.E. Browne, *The evolution of monetary policy and the federal reserve system over the past thirty years*, pp. 70-75, Federal Reserve Bank of Boston, Conference series No. 45, Boston.

Axilrod, S. H. and D.E. Lindsey (1981), "Federal Reserve System Implementation of monetary policy: Analytical foundations of the new approach", *American Economic Review*, 71, 246-252.

Ayuso, J., A.G. Haldane and F. Restoy (1997), "Volatility transmission along the money market yield curve", *Weltwirtschaftliches Archiv*, 133, 56-75.

Ayuso, J. and R. Repullo (2003), "A model of the open market operations of the European Central Bank", *Economic Journal*, 113, 883-902.

Bagehot, W. (1873/1973), *Lombard Street*, in: The collected works of Walter Bagehot, London: The Economist.

Bank of England (1982), "The role of the Bank of England in the money market", *Bank of England Quarterly Bulletin*, March, 86-94.

Bartolini, L., Bertola, G. and Prati, A. (2002), "Day-to-day Implementation of Monetary Policy and the Volatility of the Federal Funds rate", *Journal of Money, Credit and Banking*, 34, 137-159.

Bindseil, U. (2004), *Monetary policy implementation: theory, past, present*, Oxford: Oxford University Press, forthcoming in September 2004.

Bindseil, U., G. Camba-Mendez, A. Hirsch, and B. Weller (2004), "Excess reserves and the implementation of monetary policy of the ECB", ECB Working Paper Series No. 361.

BIS (1980), The monetary base approach to monetary control, Basle: Bank of International Settlements.

Bloomfield, A. I. (1959), *Monetary Policy under the gold standard: 1880-1914*, New York: Federal Reserve Bank of New York.

Board of Governors (1954, etc.), *The Federal Reserve System: Purposes and Functions*, various editions, Washington D.C.: Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System.

Boyle, A. (1967), Montagu Norman, London: Cassel.

Borio, C.E.V. (1997), "Monetary Policy operating procedures in industrial countries", *BIS conference papers*, Vol. 3., 286-368, Basle: BIS.

Burgess W.R. (1927), *The Reserve banks and the money market*, New York and London: Harper and Brothers publishers.

Christiano, L.J. and Eichenbaum, M. (1992), "Liquidity effects and the monetary transmission mechanism", *American Economic Review*, 82, 346-353.

Clarida, R., J. Galí and M. Gertler. 1999. "The Science of Monetary Policy: A New Keynesian Perspective," *Journal of Economic Literature*, 37, 1661–1707.

Cook, T.C. (1989), "Determinants of the federal funds rate: 1979 - 1982", *Economic Review*, Federal Reserve Bank of Richmond, January/February, 3-19.

Cook, T.C. and T. Hahn (1989), "The effect of changes in the Federal Funds rate target on market interest rate in the 1970s", *Journal of Monetary Economics*, 24, 331-351.

Dow, J.P (2001), "The demand for excess reserves", Southern Economic Journal, 67, 685-700.

ECB (2004), *The monetary policy of the ECB*, 2<sup>nd</sup> edition, Frankfurt: European Central Bank.

Fetter, F.W. (1965), *The development of British monetary orthodoxy 1797-1875*, Cambridge MA: Harvard University Press.

Friedman, B.M. (1990), "Targets and instruments of monetary policy", in: B. Friedman and F. Hahn (eds.): *The handbook of monetary economics*, vol. 2, 1183-1230, New York: North-Holland.

Friedman, B.M. (2000), "The role of interest rates in Federal Reserve policymaking", in: R.W. Kopcke and L.E. Browne, *The evolution of monetary policy and the federal reserve system over the past thirty years*, pp. 43-66, Federal Reserve Bank of Boston, Conference series No. 45, Boston.

Friedman, M. (1960), A program for monetary stability, New York: Fordham University Press.

--- (1982), "Monetary policy: theory and practice", Journal of Money, Credit and Banking, 14, 98-118.

--- and A. Schwartz (1963), A monetary history of the United States, 1867-1960, Princeton: Princeton University Press.

Garfinkel, M and Thornton, D.L. (1991), "The multiplier approach to the money supply process: a precautionary note", *Review of the Federal Reserve Bank of St Louis*, July/August, 47-64.

Gaspar, V., G. Perez-Quiros and H. Rodriguez-Mendizabal (2004), "Interest rate determination in the interbank money market", ECB Working paper Series, No. 351.

Goldenweiser, E.A. (1925), The Federal Reserve System in operation, New York: McGrawHill.

Goodfriend, M. (1983), "Discount window borrowing, monetary policy, and the post October 6, 1979 federal reserve operating procedure", *Journal of Monetary Economics*, 12, 343-356.

Goodfriend, M. (1988), "Central banking under the Gold Standard", in K. Brunner and A. Meltzer, eds. Money, Cycles, Exchange rates: Essays in Honor of Allan H. Meltzer, *Carnegie-Rochester Conference Series on Public Policy*, 29, 85-124.

Goodfriend, M. (2003), Review of Allan *Meltzer's A history of the Federal reserve, Volume 1: 1913-1951*, Federal reserve Bank of Minneapolis, *The Region*, December.

Goodhart, Charles E (1989), The conduct of monetary policy, Economic Journal, 99, 193-346.

Goodhart C.A.E. (2001), "The endogeneity of money", in: P. Arestis, M. Desai, and S. Dow (eds), *Money, macroeconomics and Keynes*, Routledge.

Goodhart, C.A.E (2004), "The Bank of England, 1970-2000", in: R. Michie and P. Williamson (eds.) "The British Government and the City of London in the Twentieth Century", Cambridge University Press, forthcoming.

Hamilton, J.D. (1996), "The daily market for federal funds", Journal of Political Economy, 104, 26-56.

Humphrey, T. H. (2001), "Monetary policy frameworks and indicators for the federal reserve in the 1920s", *Federal Reserve Bank of Richmond Economic Quarterly*, 87, Winter, 65-92.

Johannes, J.M. and Rasche, R.H. (1979), "Predicting the money multiplier," *Journal of Monetary Economics*, 5, 301-325.

Kaldor, Nicholas (1982), The Scourge of Monetarism, Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Keynes, J.M. (1930/1971), *A Treatise on Money*, 2<sup>nd</sup> volume: The applied theory of money, in: The collected works of John Maynard Keynes, Vol. VI, London: Macmillan/Cambridge University Press.

King, W.T.C. (1936), History of the London Discount Market, London: Frank Cass.

Laidler, D. (2003), "Meltzers' History of the Federal Reserve", *Journal of Economic Literature*, 41, 1256-1271.

Mankiw, N.G. (2002), Macroeconomics, fifth edition, Worth Publishers.

Meigs, J.A. (1962), Free Reserves and the money supply, Chicago: University of Chicago Press.

Meltzer, A.H. (2003), A History of the Federal Reserve, Volume 1: 1913-1951, Chicago: University of Chicago Press.

Meulendyke, A.-M. (1998), US monetary policy and financial markets, New York: Federal Reserve Bank of New York

Mishkin, F. (2004), *The Economics of money, banking and financial markets*, 7<sup>th</sup> ed. Boston: Pearson-Addison Wesley.

Moore, Basil (1988): *Horizontalists and verticalists: The Macroeconomics of credit money*. New York: Cambridge University Press.

Phillips, C.A. (1920), Bank Credit, New York: Macmillan.

Poole, W. (1968), "Commercial bank reserve management in a stochastic model: implications for monetary policy", *Journal of Finance*, 23, 769-791.

--- (1970), "Optimal Choice of monetary policy instruments in a simple stochastic macro model", *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 84, 197-216.

Radcliffe G.B.E. et al (1959), *Report of the Committee on the working of the monetary System*, Presented to Parliament by the Chancellor of the Exchequer by Command of Her Majesty, London: Her Majesty's stationary office.

Reichsbank, (1900/1910), *The Reichsbank 1876-1900*, Translation edited by the National Monetary Commission, Washington: Government Printing office.

Riefler, W.W. (1930), Money rates and money markets in the United States, New York: Harper & Bros.

Sayers, R.S. (1976), *The Bank of England*, 1891-1944, 3 volumes, Cambridge et al.: Cambridge University Press.

Strongin, Steven (1995), "The identification of monetary policy disturbances. Explaining the liquidity puzzle," *Journal of Monetary Economics*, 35, 463-497.

Svensson, L. E. O. (2003). "Escaping from a Liquidity Trap and Deflation: The Foolproof Way and Others", Working Paper No. W10195, December, Cambridge, MA: National Bureau of Economic Research

Taylor, J.B. (1993), "Discretion versus policy rules in practice", *Carnegie-Rochester Conference Series on Public Policy*, 39, pp. 195-214.

Thornton, D.L. (2001), The Federal Reserve's operating procedure, non-borrowed reserves, borrowed reserves, and the liquidity effect", *Journal of Banking and Finance*, 25, 1717-1739.

Thornton, H. (1802/1962), An inquiry into the nature and effects of paper credit of Great Britain, Reprint 1962, New York: Kelley.

Walsh, C.E. (1998), Monetary Theory and Monetary Policy, Cambridge/Mass.: MIT Press.

Warburg, P.M. (1930), *The Federal Reserve System, its origins and growth*, 2 vols. New York: Macmillan.

Wicksell, K. (1936), *Interest and Prices*. A study of the causes regulating the value of money, London: Macmillan, 1936. Translation of: Geldzins und Gueterpreise, Eine Studie ueber die den Tauschwert des Geldes bestimmended Ursachen, Jena: Gustav Fischer, 1898.

Wood, E. (1939), *English theories of central banking control (1819-1858)*, Cambridge/Mass: Harvard University Press.

Woodford, M. (2001), "Monetary policy in the information economy", Paper prepared for the "Symposium on Economic Policy for the Information Economy," Federal Reserve Bank of Kansas City, Jackson Hole, Wyoming, August 30-September 1, 2001.

--- (2003), *Interest and prices: Foundations of a theory of monetary policy*, Princeton: Princeton University Press.

#### European Central Bank working paper series

For a complete list of Working Papers published by the ECB, please visit the ECB's website (http://www.ecb.int).

- 314 "Exchange rate risks and asset prices in a small open economy" by A. Derviz, March 2004.
- 315 "Option-implied asymmetries in bond market expectations around monetary policy actions of the ECB" by S. Vähämaa, March 2004.
- 316 "Cooperation in international banking supervision" by C. Holthausen and T. Rønde, March 2004.
- 317 "Fiscal policy and inflation volatility" by P. C. Rother, March 2004.
- 318 "Gross job flows and institutions in Europe" by R. Gómez-Salvador, J. Messina and G. Vallanti, March 2004.
- 319 "Risk sharing through financial markets with endogenous enforcement of trades" by T. V. Köppl, March 2004.
- 320 "Institutions and service employment: a panel study for OECD countries" by J. Messina, March 2004.
- 321 "Frequency domain principal components estimation of fractionally cointegrated processes" by C. Morana, March 2004.
- 322 "Modelling inflation in the euro area" by E. S. Jansen, March 2004.
- 323 "On the indeterminacy of New-Keynesian economics" by A. Beyer and R. E. A. Farmer, March 2004.
- 324 "Fundamentals and joint currency crises" by P. Hartmann, S. Straetmans and C. G. de Vries, March 2004.
- 325 "What are the spill-overs from fiscal shocks in Europe? An empirical analysis" by M. Giuliodori and R. Beetsma, March 2004.
- 326 "The great depression and the Friedman-Schwartz hypothesis" by L. Christiano, R. Motto and M. Rostagno, March 2004.
- 327 "Diversification in euro area stock markets: country versus industry" by G. A. Moerman, April 2004.
- 328 "Non-fundamental exchange rate volatility and welfare" by R. Straub and I. Tchakarov, April 2004.
- 329 "On the determinants of euro area FDI to the United States: the knowledge-capital-Tobin's Q framework, by R. A. De Santis, R. Anderton and A. Hijzen, April 2004.
- 330 "The demand for euro area currencies: past, present and future" by B. Fischer, P. Köhler and F. Seitz, April 2004.
- 331 "How frequently do prices change? evidence based on the micro data underlying the Belgian CPI" byL. Aucremanne and E. Dhyne, April 2004.
- 332 "Stylised features of price setting behaviour in Portugal: 1992-2001" by M. Dias, D. Dias and P. D. Neves, April 2004.
- 333 "The pricing behaviour of Italian firms: New survey evidence on price stickiness" byS. Fabiani, A. Gattulli and R. Sabbatini, April 2004.

- 334 "Is inflation persistence intrinsic in industrial economies?" by A. T. Levin and J. M. Piger, April 2004.
- 335 "Has eura-area inflation persistence changed over time?" by G. O'Reilly and K. Whelan, April 2004.
- 336 "The great inflation of the 1970s" by F. Collard and H. Dellas, April 2004.
- 337 "The decline of activist stabilization policy: Natural rate misperceptions, learning and expectations" byA. Orphanides and J. C. Williams, April 2004.
- 338 "The optimal degree of discretion in monetary policy" by S. Athey, A. Atkeson and P. J. Kehoe, April 2004.
- 339 "Understanding the effects of government spending on consumption" by J. Galí, J. D. López-Salido and J. Vallés, April 2004.
- 340 "Indeterminacy with inflation-forecast-based rules in a two-bloc model" by N. Batini, P.Levine and J. Pearlman, April 2004.
- 341 "Benefits and spillovers of greater competition in Europe: A macroeconomic assessment" by T. Bayoumi,D. Laxton and P. Pesenti, April 2004.
- 342 "Equal size, equal role? Interest rate interdependence between the euro area and the United States" byM. Ehrmann and M. Fratzscher, April 2004.
- 343 "Monetary discretion, pricing complementarity and dynamic multiple equilibria" by R. G. King and A. L. Wolman, April 2004.
- 344 "Ramsey monetary policy and international relative prices" by E. Faia and T. Monacelli, April 2004.
- 345 "Optimal monetary and fiscal policy: A linear-quadratic approach" by P. Benigno and M. Woodford, April 2004.
- 346 "Perpetual youth and endogenous labour supply: a problem and a possible solution" by G. Ascari and N. Rankin, April 2004.
- 347 "Firms' investment decisions in response to demand and price uncertainty" by C. Fuss and P. Vermeulen, April 2004.
- 348 "Financial openness and growth: Short-run gain, long-run pain?" by M. Fratzscher and M. Bussiere, April 2004.
- 349 "Estimating the rank of the spectral density matrix" by G. Camba-Mendez and G. Kapetanios, April 2004.
- 350 "Exchange-rate policy and the zero bound on nominal interest rates" by G. Camba-Mendez and G. Kapetanios, April 2004.
- 351 "Interest rate determination in the interbank market" by V. Gaspar, G. P. Quirós and H. R. Mendizábal, April 2004.
- 352 "Forecasting inflation with thick models and neural networks" by P. McNelis and P. McAdam, April 2004.

- 353 "Towards the estimation of equilibrium exchange rates for CEE acceding countries: methodological issues and a panel cointegration perspective" by F. Maeso-Fernandez, C. Osbat and B. Schnatz, April 2004.
- 354 "Taking stock: monetary policy transmission to equity markets" by M. Ehrmann and M. Fratzscher, May 2004.
- 355 "Production interdependence and welfare" by K. X. D. Huang and Z. Liu, May 2004.
- 356 "Developing a euro area accounting matrix: issues and applications" by T. Jellema, S. Keuning, P. McAdam and R. Mink, May 2004.
- 357 "Seasonal adjustment and the detection of business cycle phases" by A. M. Mir and D. R. Osborn, May 2004.
- 358 "Did the pattern of aggregate employment growth change in the euro area in the late 1990s?" by G. Mourre, May 2004.
- 359 "The longer term refinancing operations of the ECB" by T. Linzert, D. Nautz and U. Bindseil, May 2004.
- 360 "Optimal monetary policy rules for the euro area: an analysis using the area wide model" by A. Dieppe, K. Küster and P. McAdam, May 2004.
- 361 "Excess reserves and the implementation of monetary policy of the ECB" by U. Bindseil, G. Camba-Mendez, A. Hirsch and B. Weller, May 2004.
- 362 "Oil price shocks and real GDP growth: empirical evidence for some OECD countries" by R. Jiménez-Rodríguez and M. Sánchez, May 2004.
- 363 "Communication and exchange rate policy" by M. Fratzscher, May 2004.
- 364 "Asset price booms and monetary policy" by C. Detken and F. Smets, May 2004.
- 365 "Exchange rates and fundamentals: new evidence from real-time data" by M. Ehrmann and M. Fratzscher, May 2004.
- 366 "The informational content of over-the-counter currency options" by P. Christoffersen and S. Mazzotta, June 2004.
- 367 "Factor substitution and factor augmenting technical: progress in the US: a normalized supply-side system approach" by R Klump, P. McAdam and A. Willman, June 2004.
- 368 "Capital quality improvement and the sources of growth in the euro area" by P. Sakellaris and F. W. Vijselaar, June 2004.
- 369 "Sovereign risk premia in the European government bond market" by K. Bernoth, J. von Hagen and L. Schuknecht, June 2004.
- 370 "Inflation persistence during periods of structural change: an assessment using Greek data" by G. Hondroyiannis and S. Lazaretou, June 2004.
- 371 "Inflation persistence: facts or artefacts?" by C. R. Marques, June 2004.
- 372 "The operational target of monetary policy and the rise and fall of reserve position doctrine" by U. Bindseil, June 2004.